

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Community Perceptions of a Rural Community College After a Replacement Levy Failure

Stephanie Wells-Mullins Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Stephanie Saunders

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Nichole Karpel, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Kelly Hall, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Timothy Lafferty, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Community Perceptions of a Rural Community College After a Replacement Levy

Failure

by

Stephanie Saunders

MHA, Walden University, 2011

BS, University of Rio Grande, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2020

Abstract

The study site, a rural community college, placed a property tax levy on the ballot in November 2017 to provide much needed additional funding to the financially struggling institution. The problem of the study is the levy failed. College administrators have determined that the levy proposition should be reissued, yet administrators do not have a clear understanding as to what went wrong in 2017. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition. Lewin's change management model and his force field analysis were used as the conceptual framework for the identification of the positive and negative forces affecting the outcome of the tax levy proposition. The research question focused on community member perceptions about the tax levy vote. A basic qualitative design using purposeful sampling was used for semistructured interviews of 12 participants to examine community members' perceptions about the tax levy proposition and its outcome. The study criteria consisted of a minimum age of 18, and an address within the study site's in-district region. Emergent themes were identified through causation coding. Findings were developed and checked for trustworthiness through member checking, rich descriptions, and researcher reflexivity. Findings revealed specific areas of improvement focused on strengthening ties with the community. A white paper project was created to present to college leaders with a summary of findings and recommendations for organizational change and community outreach. Community colleges needing to pass a levy could use study results and project recommendations to increase the likelihood of passing a levy campaign and generating funding needed to meet community educational needs.

Community Perceptions of a Rural Community College After a Replacement Levy

Failure

by

Stephanie Saunders

MHA, Walden University, 2011 BS, University of Rio Grande, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2020

Dedication

I like to dedicate this journey to my mother, father, husband, brother, and children. To my mother who has always been my biggest fan and number one supporter. Thank you, Mom, for loving me unconditionally and for always being available when I need someone to talk to. I cannot imagine getting to where I am today without you. Your love and nurturing throughout my life has given me the strength and determination to follow my dreams. To my father that has been a rock in my life. Thank you, Dad, for keeping me entertained, caring for me when I needed it most, and always making me aware that I make you proud. To my husband for taking the brunt of my frustrations and for the constant encouragement that kept me going when I wanted to give up. Thank you, Anthony, for your love, patience, and unwavering support. To my brother that is not just a sibling, but a friend and role model. Josh, I am so proud to call you my brother. You represent the best of our family, and although you are my little brother, I look up to you more than you know. And finally, to my children, Brandon, and Hope. Since becoming a mother, I have completed four college degrees. While there were times that I felt guilty for working on schoolwork instead of spending time with you, I want you to know that you were my motivation to continue to better myself, and a large part of my journey has been for you. Brandon and Hope, you are my world and I love you more than you will ever know.

Acknowledgments

There are so many people that deserve recognition for making my doctoral journey a success. First, I would like to thank my family, friends, and colleagues that have supported me, not only through this doctoral journey, but throughout my life. I would like to thank my Dean, Dr. Donna Mitchell, for believing in me. I could not ask for a better leader and mentor. You saw my potential and provided the support that I needed to push myself. I would like to thank my colleague, Laura Rupe, for supporting and encouraging me when I needed it the most. Thank you, Laura, for always lending an ear, having my back, and keeping me laughing. I would like to thank my friends Carrie, Darla, and Bridget for your patience with my schedule and for your understanding when I was not able to spend time with you because of writing deadlines. Your friendship has been a valuable support to me, not only through my doctoral program, but throughout my life. Finally, I would like to thank my Aunt Teresa, Aunt Connie, and Aunt June for your love and support that has been pivotal in my life since childhood.

To my committee members, Dr. Nichole Karpel (chair), Dr. Kelly Hall (second chair), and Dr. Tim Lafferty (URR), your guidance and feedback always challenged me and pushed me to become a better scholarly writer and researcher. Dr. Karpel, you have been a wonderful mentor. I appreciate your patience with me when I struggled and for being readily available when I needed support. Thank you for confidently guiding me through the greatest challenge that I have ever undertaken.

Table of Contents

Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	3
Definition of Terms	4
Significance of the Study	5
Research Question	7
Review of the Literature	7
Conceptual Framework	9
The History of the Community College	11
Local Funding of Community Colleges	13
Competing Funding	15
The K-12 Comparison.	16
Strategies for Successful K-12 Tax Referenda	19
Community College Education as a Public Good	20
University-Community Engagement	23
Implications	25
Summary	26
Section 2: The Methodology	27
Research Design and Approach	27
Description	27
Justification of Research Design	27
Participants	28

Role of the Researcher	34
Evidence of Quality	37
Dependability	37
Credibility	37
Transferability	38
Confirmability	38
Data Saturation	39
Reflexivity	39
Discrepant Cases	40
Data Analysis Results	40
Coding Process	42
Findings	45
Theme 1: Value of Higher Education	46
Theme 2: Opportunities	49
Theme 3: Knowledge of the Levy	56
Theme 4: Levy Prioritization	59
Conclusion	63
Section 3: The Project	65
Introduction	65
Review of the Literature	68
White Paper Genre	69
Value of Higher Education	70
Opportunities	71

Knowledge of the Levy	80
Levy Prioritization	82
Conclusion	84
Project Description	85
Resources Needed and Existing Supports	85
Potential Barriers and Potential Solutions	86
Timeline for Implementation	87
My Roles and Responsibilities.	92
Project Evaluation Plan	93
Outcomes-based Evaluation	93
Justification for Outcomes-based Evaluation	93
Overall Goal and Stakeholders	94
Project Implications	100
Social Change Summary	100
Local Stakeholders	101
Larger Context	101
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions.	103
Project Strengths and Limitations	104
Strengths	105
Limitations	106
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	107
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	108

Reflective Analysis of Personal Learning	109
Reflection on Importance of the Work	111
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	111
Implications	111
Applications	112
Future Research	112
Conclusion	114
References	117
Appendix A: The Project	141
Appendix B: Semi-Structured Interview Ouestions	151

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

In November 2017, the four-county district community of a community college in rural Appalachia voted against a replacement property tax levy. According to the 2018 chief financial officer (CFO) of the study site, the levy would have generated an additional \$1,000,000 in funding annually and an 11% increase in non-operating revenues for the financially struggling institution (Study Site CFO, personal communication, July 25, 2018). The CFO stated that the failure has left the leaders of the study site without a clear understanding of what went wrong (Study Site CFO, personal communication, July 25, 2018). According to the meeting minutes of the study site's Board of Trustees February 27, 2017 meeting, the board voted to place the replacement levy on the November 2017 ballot after a feasibility study conducted by an external agency indicated that a replacement levy campaign should be successful. The problem for this study is the failure of the replacement levy.

According to the meeting minutes of the study site's Board of Trustees December 4, 2017 meeting, the current chief operating officer of the study site explained that to see a successful replacement levy through, the institution's leaders need to "take a very serious look at where we went wrong and fix it". Prior to the failed election, the 2015-2018 college president stated, according to the meeting minutes of the of the study site's Board of Trustees April 24, 2017 meeting, that the institution needed the additional funding that the replacement levy would generate for reasons including the following: the increasing reliance on institutional reserves to maintain operations, the ability to fund

basic investments, and the ability to fund faculty and staff vacancies. Additionally, the 2015-2018 college president stated that as resources become more and more scarce for higher education, especially for vulnerable institutions located in rural and impoverished areas, the need for administrators and policymakers to better understand the sentiments and perspectives of the community is critical (Study Site president, personal communication, July 22, 2018).

The relationship between institution and community is critical as institutional finances, specifically community college finances, are often dependent on local tax support (Phelan, 2014). While most public institutions, including community colleges, are financed through a combination of state appropriations and tuition revenues, local tax support is critical for community colleges in approximately half of the states (Baime & Baum, 2016). The study site is in 1 of 30 states that depends on local funding, in addition to state support and tuition revenue, to maintain operations, with local funding contributing an average of 11% to community college financial support across the country (Baime & Baum, 2016). The critical need for local tax support or other funding mechanisms is gaining importance as total state appropriations for higher education declined by 16 % between the 2007-2008 and 2013-2014 academic years, translating to a decrease in spending of \$2,026 per student (Klein, 2015). When state funding is decreased, public colleges are forced to eliminate educational services, raise tuition, or both, to bridge the funding gap (Mitchell, Palacios, & Leachman, 2015). Local tax support obtained through successful mill levy campaigns allows community colleges to improve the physical campus, update campus technology, improve academic programs,

and maintain operating expenses without transferring the financial burden to students through tuition increases (Ohio Higher Ed, 2017).

Rationale

The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition. The study site is a unique and complicated institution due to its existence as a community college that feeds directly into a private university, sharing a physical campus, faculty, and support services (Study Site Dean of the College of Health & Behavioral Sciences, personal communication, March 12, 2019). The study site, the community college with a main campus and three off-site academic centers, and the private university are also tied together through institutional accreditation, listed as a combined entity accredited through the Higher Learning Commission (Higher Learning Commission, 2018). The 2017-2018 combined enrollment of the community college and private university was 1,812 total students that were predominantly commuters and enrolled at the community college level (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). Although this study's focus was at the community college level, the statistics and background of the institution were relevant due to the complicated contractual agreements between the two entities (Study Site CFO, personal communication, July 25, 2018).

According to the study site's December 4, 2017 board of trustees meeting, the 2015-2018 president of the study site indicated that with state of the institution's finances, the replacement levy needed to be placed on the ballot again, and it needed to

pass. Per the January 10, 2018 board of trustees meeting minutes, there was extensive discussion amongst board members and the college administrators regarding the failed levy and numerous opinions were shared about what the board members and administrators believed contributed to the failure. During the same meeting per the minutes, one board member inquired if any research had been conducted about the levy failure, such as surveys. The 2015-2018 college president answered that no research had not been conducted, and it was her opinion that the potential reasons discussed, such as competing levies and inadequate campaigning in the rural communities, were the reasons for the levy failure. While the levy failure is a significant concern for the study site, the business and industry leaders of the region are also concerned due to the implications for their future workforce and pool of qualified applicants (Study Site Advisory Board, personal communication, February 25, 2019). The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, to potentially provide an improved understanding of levy failure based on research, as opposed to opinion.

Definition of Terms

Community college: Colleges that offer two-year programs leading to the Associate of Arts (AA) or Associate of Science (AS) degree, with close relationships to secondary/high schools, community groups, and employers in the local community (Education USA, n.d.).

Property tax levy: The collection of taxes charged on the value of property (Ohio School Boards Association, 2018).

Replacement levy: A renewal levy is imposed at the original millage rate of the levy that it replaces, as opposed to the original levy's effective rate, allowing the district to benefit from any growth in local property value that occurred over the life of the previous levy (Ohio School Boards Association, 2018).

Rural-Serving community college: Associate's colleges physically located in areas other than the Primary Metropolitan Statistical Areas (PMSAs) or Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs) (Rural Community College Alliance, n.d.).

State Appropriation: An "authorization by the General Assembly to make expenditures and incur liabilities for specific purposes" (State of Connecticut Office of the State Comptroller, n.d.).

Significance of the Study

In November 2017, a replacement levy proposition for the study site failed. The levy would have generated additional funding for the financially struggling institution, and the leaders of the study site do not have a clear understanding of why the levy failed (Study Site CFO, personal communication, July 25, 2018). By examining the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, initiatives may be created by institutional administration for the potential improvement of the community's perceptions of the study site.

Additionally, the research may help administrators plan for a more successful replacement levy campaign in the future. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition to potentially gain a

better understanding of this event with the intent to provide insight for improved planning for a future replacement levy.

This qualitative study, while focused on a local level, may have applicability to community colleges across the country that are also located in states that allow local funding of higher education through property tax support, specifically rural community colleges with characteristics similar to the study site. A common problem facing rural community colleges is a lower tax base and fewer local workforce opportunities than their suburban counterparts (Thornton & Friedel, 2015), creating a greater financial strain to overcome (Bennett, 2014). When seeking new or additional funding from the community from property tax support, the findings of this study may provide insight into potential issues or challenges that other rural serving community college leaders may want to consider when planning a tax levy campaign to secure funding for an improved financial status.

Improved finances secured by a future successful replacement levy may have positive social change implications for multiple institutional stakeholders at the local level including; students, student dependents, faculty, board of trustee members, college administration, community businesses, employers of future graduates, and the study site in terms of its institutional viability. The additional funding that a successful replacement levy would contribute may allow for maintaining operations at the study site, basic investments such as improvements in technology and the physical campus, and the funding of faculty and staff vacancies. The improved financial support of the institution may translate into improved student outcomes, including degree completion and

improved employment opportunities. Improved student outcomes may translate into positive changes in the local economy, a decrease in local governmental assistance for individuals and families, a stronger community college better equipped to meet the needs of its community served, and a decrease in local crime and poverty rates (Levin & Garcia, 2018).

Research Question

To provide potential insight into why the study site's replacement levy failed in November 2017, the community members' perceptions that contributed to the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition were examined and the following research question guided the research:

What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the replacement levy?

Review of the Literature

An extensive review of the literature that pertained to local funding of community colleges through property tax support yielded very little research that was current or relevant to this study. According Johnson (2015), the existing body of literature focuses exclusively on property tax referenda for the K-12 system, with research suggesting that there are differences in preferences for tax allocation spending on public goods, such as K-12 and higher education, based on the generation of the voter, as well as their racial, ethnical, and cultural background. To address the significance of community college local funding, the review of the literature has been divided into eight sections. The first section provides information on the conceptual framework used for this study. The

second section provides an overview of the key historical events that led to the creation of the community college, in terms of both mission and funding. The third section explains local funding of community colleges, including the variation in funding laws across the states. The fourth section describes characteristics that the K-12 system and community colleges have in common as they relate to local tax referenda. The fifth section provides an overview of the recent research conducted on local tax referenda at the K-12 level. The sixth section discusses higher education as a public good. The seventh section summarizes the various state funds that are in competition with higher education for state appropriations. The eighth section discusses the implications of university and community engagement.

Research for the literature review was conducted by searching the following databases with relevant key words: Education Source, ERIC, SAGE Journals, ProQuest, Taylor and Francis Online, Academic Search Complete, and Google Scholar. The key words used for this research included: community college local funding, property tax support, mill-levy, voter perceptions, community college funding, state funding higher education, school levy campaigns, community college history, higher education public good, community college mission, community partnerships, community engagement, town and gown relationships, and local tax appropriations. The peer reviewed research generated by the previously described search method provided articles and textbook chapters that were both relevant, current, and applicable to this doctoral study.

Conceptual Framework

The study site, a rural community college, placed a replacement property tax levy on the ballot in November 2017 that would have provided much needed funding to the financially struggling institution. The problem for the study was the levy failure. The college administrators have determined that the levy needs placed on the ballot again, and it needs to pass, yet the administrators do not have a clear understanding as to what went wrong in 2017. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition.

The conceptual framework for this qualitative study was based on Lewin's change management model (Wojciechowski, Pearsall, Murphy, & French, 2016). Lewin's model suggested three steps for the successful orchestration of organizational change (Rosenbaum, More, & Steane, 2018). In terms of this study, the desired change is a future successful replacement levy campaign. The first step in Lewin's model is unfreeze, which consists of identifying and evaluating the change inhibitors and change enhancers (positive and negative forces) affecting organizational change through the process of force field analysis (Rosenbaum et al., 2018). The identification and examination of the change inhibitors and change enhancers (positive and negative forces) provides the necessary research for identifying organizational issues or problems, the fundamental basis for challenging the status quo (Wojciechowski et al., 2016). The second stage, change, consists of demonstrating the benefits of change and decreasing the negative forces that serve as change inhibitors (Wojciechowski et al., 2016). The third stage,

refreeze, serves to integrate the changes and stabilize the organization into a new state of equilibrium (Wojciechowski et al., 2016). Lewin's change management model and his force field analysis have been used by researchers from many different organizational fields, including education, to identify the positive and negative forces affecting change (Phillips, 2013). Recently, Blanco-Portela, Benayas, Pertierra, and Lozano (2017) utilized Lewin's force field analysis to identify the positive and negative forces affecting organizational change and sustainability in higher education.

This purpose of this study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition. Through the utilization of Lewin's force field analysis, the positive and negative forces that potentially contributed to the replacement levy failure were identified and examined. Force field analysis, a component of Lewin's change management model, was used as an analytical tool to identify the positive and negative forces that shaped the community's perceptions that potentially contributed to the replacement levy failure, consistent with Lewin's first stage of orchestrating organizational change, unfreeze (Wojciechowski et al., 2016). The process of force field analysis begins by identifying the positive and negative forces that have a direct impact on the desired outcome (Weiss et al., 2017). Negative forces are factors that create resistance to the desired outcome and positive forces are factors that help in reaching the desired goal (Weiss et al., 2017). In addition to identifying the influencing forces, the forces are weighted in terms of significance or strength (Swanson & Creed, 2014). In summary, force field analysis helps to identify areas for improvement, identify areas of strength, determine the feasibility of

the change, evaluate opposing forces to change, and develop a strategy for change (Cohen & Hyde, 2016). Through the use of force field analysis, this study has identified the positive and negative perceptions of the institution as perceived by the community that could serve as the basis for the creation of initiatives and a strategy for a more successful future levy campaign.

The History of the Community College

The history of the present-day American community college reaches back to the 19th century with the passage of federal legislation known as the Morrill Acts of 1862 and 1890 (Palmadessa, 2017). In 1862, President Abraham Lincoln signed the Land-Grant College Act, commonly known as the Morrill Act of 1862, which granted land to the states for the endowment of institutions, later known as land-grant colleges, to educate and prepare workers for jobs in agriculture and mechanics (Goolsbee & Minow, 2016). In 1890, the second Morrill Act was passed to provide a means for the creation of 18 black land-grant colleges in the former confederate and border states (Lee & Keys, 2013). While the Morrill Acts did not directly fund community colleges, the Morrill Act of 1862 was the first legislative act to address vocational training of America's workforce, paving the way for the establishment of publicly supported institutions of higher education in every state (Cohen, Brawer, & Kisker, 2014).

The 20th century brought an increased demand for higher education and vocational training. In 1901, America's first community college, Joliet Junior College, was created by J. Stanley Brown to provide higher education opportunities for high school graduates that wished to remain within the community, and experienced growth

through the 1920's and 1930's by meeting the "challenge of a growing technological society" (Joliet Junior College, n.d.). When American soldiers returned home from World War II to find limited economic opportunities and the need for formal education and training, a need for rapid expansion of community colleges was realized (Goolsbee & Minow, 2016). The large influx of American veterans in search of jobs and coupled with the federal government's desire to advance the country's technology and weaponry, prompted the passage of the Serviceman's Readjustment Act of 1944, commonly known as the G.I. Bill of 1944, leading to a tremendous growth in higher education (Palmadessa, 2017). In 1946, the rapid growth in higher education in America prompted President Harry Truman to appoint the President's Commission on Higher Education (Stevens, 2018). The Commission published the report *Higher Education for American Democracy* in 1947 which addressed many issues in higher education, one of which was the need for the expansion of community colleges (Truman, 1947).

By the 1960's, community colleges were opening at a rate of one new institution per week, in response to the growing demand for vocational training that existing colleges could not meet (Glasper & Kisker, 2016). These community colleges were established with consistent missions that hinged on transfer education, vocational education, and community service and were financially supported through revenue streams from the federal government, state government, local property taxes, and student tuition and fees (Phelan, 2014). 457 new community colleges opened their doors during the 1960's, more than doubling the number of community colleges in existence in the 1950's (Bass, 2017).

Currently, there are 980 public community colleges in operation in the United States (American Association of Community Colleges & Association of Community College Trustees, 2018), with 553 (56%) of those institutions categorized as rural by the Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education (ruralccalliance.org). Significant to this study, 625 (64%) of the public community colleges in America are in states that allow local tax revenue as a funding source (College Simply, n.d.). Local funding as a source of community college revenue and its significance will be discussed in the following section.

Local Funding of Community Colleges

Community colleges, like most public institutions of higher education, are funded by revenue streams generated from state appropriations and student tuition (Baime & Baum, 2016). Additionally, community colleges in approximately half of the states, receive significant funding from local tax appropriations (Mullin, Baime, & Honeyman, 2015). As of the 2013-2014 academic year, there were 207 rurally designated community colleges that received greater than 10% of their revenues from local appropriations (Katsinas, Malley, & Warner, 2016). During the 2011-2012 academic year, local tax appropriations contributed 17.3% of the revenue for community colleges located in locally funded states, compared to state appropriations of 23.2% (Mullin et al., 2015).

The contribution of local funding to a community college allows for an institutional identity as a state-assisted community college with less reliance on state funding, versus an identity as a state community college that does not receive any local funding and is more reliant on state funding (Mullin et al., 2015). This differentiation is

significant as local funding can help offset the decreases in state funding that are often compensated for by increased tuition rates in the 25 states that do not have local funding opportunities (Katsinas, D'Amico, Friedel, & Adair, 2016).

While local funding does have its benefits in terms of bridging the institutional funding gap, there are challenges as well. Local funding has received backlash in terms of its propagation of educational and racial inequality due to the variance in wealth across the districts of each state (Romano & Palmer, 2016). Within each state that allows local funding, property tax support varies due in part to differing property valuations, yielding higher levels of tax support for institutions located in wealthier districts (Phelan, 2014). In states such as Ohio, the funding provided by mill levies does not adjust with property reappraisals or triennial updates, resulting in a consistent dollar value that does not respond to inflation and can only be increased with voter approval (Sullivan & Sobul, 2010). Multiple states, including Ohio, Texas, Missouri, and Alabama, prohibit single elections for tax appropriations across multi-county community college districts, requiring institutions to compete with other levy initiatives at the local level (Katsinas, Malley, et al., 2016).

Another issue, and perhaps the most challenging, is that local funding is dependent on community voter approval. Voter approval of local higher education funding, as it has a direct impact on community members' finances, is in competition with other local funding initiatives on the ballot, such as K-12 education and emergency services (Weerts, 2015). Research has also indicated that community members' perceptions of higher education may influence the extent to which they are willing to

contribute to the financial support of the local community college (Phelan, 2014). Additionally, community colleges are facing public demands for accountability and transparency in terms of how tax dollars are being spent, providing proof of the taxpayer's return on investment (Smith, 2016).

Competing Funding

Local funding of community colleges can help bridge a gap in funding, a gap that has increased significantly since the 2008 recession, forcing college administrators to do more with less, or transfer a portion of the burden to students through increased tuition rates (Phelan, 2014). The gap in funding can, in part, be blamed on the increasing competition for state funding (Webber, 2018). In addition to local appropriations, community colleges, like other public colleges and universities, are highly dependent on state tax dollars for funding teaching and instruction (Mitchell et al., 2015). The issue with a heavy reliance on state tax dollars hinges on the fact that higher education is in competition with other state-funded operations and programs that unlike colleges and universities, cannot raise revenue through alternative sources (Klein, 2015). State funding of higher education competes with six different funding categories; Medicaid, K-12 education, transportation, corrections, public assistance, and a category labeled as "All Other" (NASBO, 2018). In addition to competing for the state's funds, historically, higher education has been one of the first funds to be cut in response to state financial hardships (Morris, 2017), with state funding decreasing by approximately 25% per student since 1987 (Webber, 2018). The two biggest competitors that higher education has for state funding are the K-12 system with average state spending increasing 41% per

resident from 1987 to 2015, and Medicaid with average state spending nearly tripling from 1987 to 2015 (Webber, 2018). Although state spending on higher education is strongly linked to better student outcomes and faster economic growth, there has been a continual decline in state appropriations for higher education over the past three decades, resulting in an increasing reliance on local tax appropriations and tuition revenues to keep community college doors open (Glasper & Kisker, 2016).

The K-12 Comparison

To fully explore the implications of tax referenda for the funding of community colleges, researching issues effecting tax referenda for K-12 is advantageous, as there are parallels between the two that are increasing in significance (Melguizo, Witham, Fong, & Chi, 2017). Community colleges located in states that allow local funding face similar challenges as K-12 school systems in securing or increasing local tax support necessitated by decreasing state funding, an endeavor described as a "politically challenging task even in good times" (Leachman, Masterson, & Wallace, 2016, p.2). A similarity between community colleges and K-12 with tax referenda implications, can be appreciated with the recent adoption of outcome-focused performance funding in the community college system, a higher education sibling to the Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) measures (Kogan, Lavertu, & Peskowitz, 2016) a product of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001 (Hodge & Welch, 2016).

The NCLB Act of 2001 was designed to improve K-12 educational outcomes in the United States by creating mechanisms for holding school districts accountable for their students' progress and achievement (Hodge & Welch, 2016). While failure to meet

Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) measures has multiple associated sanctions with increasing severity based on the length (in years) of deficiency, the issue with NCLB that resonates with higher education is the reality that school district funding can be increased or decreased in response to their reported AYP outcomes (Hunt, 2015). Similarly, states are shifting away from traditional enrollment-based funding in higher education, to performance or outcome-based funding, to increase accountability through outcome metrics such as degree completion rates, graduation rates, job placement rates, and retention rates (Li, 2017). As of 2016, 32 states have shifted from enrollment-based funding to performance-based funding in varying degrees (Ziskin, Rabourn, & Hossler, 2018), with states such as Ohio and Tennessee tying 100% of state appropriations to community colleges based on performance (Dougherty et al., 2016). While the idea of using performance-based funding as a stimulant for improved community college outcomes makes sense on the surface, community college completion rates are only around 36%, and the associated decrease in funding is forcing community colleges to continue to try to bridge the funding gap, further eroding funds necessary for improving outcomes (Melguizo et al., 2017).

In addition to direct funding issues resulting from AYP measures, deficient AYP scores for a K-12 school system may undermine the community's support of the local school district by emphasizing inadequacies. In recent research conducted by Kogan et al. (2016), the probability of passing a local school district tax levy decreased by more than 10% when districts failed AYP measures, measures made public and reported to the community, "resulting in a large financial penalty that disproportionately affected

districts in impoverished communities and only widened the resource disparity between districts" (p.24). Although research has not been conducted on performance-based funding implications on community college tax referenda, it would not be unreasonable to question the potential existence of a similar phenomenon in the public community college property tax levy campaign.

Similarly, research by Thompson and Whitley (2017), suggested that the assignment of fiscal stress labels, the subsequent mandatory state sanctioned financial recovery plan, and community voters potential lack of accurate information or complete understanding of the causes of the school district's financial stress, may lead to suboptimal voting decisions. While community colleges are not assigned fiscal stress labels by the state, the financial records of public colleges and universities are part of the public domain and accessible by the public, providing yet another potential parallel between K-12 and community colleges in their pursuit of a successful levy campaign.

Another area of recent research pertaining to the potential challenges of passing K-12 school property tax levies is the issue of open enrollment. A study conducted by Pogodzinski, Lenhoff, and Addonizio (2018) sought to identify the implications of school district open enrollment policies on voter support of local tax referendum. The research findings of Pogodzinski et al. (2018) were consistent with the findings of previous studies suggesting that open enrollment policies and local tax support for the education of non-residents was not significant in terms of levy passage. Open enrollment is yet another area of similarity between the K-12 and community college systems due to the open enrollment status of most community colleges, with admissions open to not only out of

district students, but to out of state and international students, as well (Cohen et al., 2014). Although K-12 research has implied that it is insignificant, open enrollment and the effects on community college tax referenda has not been studied.

Strategies for Successful K-12 Tax Referenda

In the United States, the funding for K-12 curriculum and instruction are strictly regulated by the state and federal government, however, the funding of capital facility finance and construction has historically been left to the local school districts and their communities (Bowers, 2015). With the declining condition of primary and secondary schools throughout the U.S. and an estimated price tag of \$322 billion to build and repair American schools, the need for raising money for capital projects has gained critical importance, and school administrators are seeking strategies for successful tax referenda campaigns (Gong & Rogers, 2014).

There has been extensive research conducted on how to pass school tax levies or bonds at the K-12 level, with emphasis on voter turnout, election timing, levy or bond proposal wording, and community characteristics, however, recent research "has begun to describe the complex political nature and local strategies of bond and levy campaigns in districts" (Bowers & Chen, 2015). The research on voter turnout has led to one campaign strategy that has proven effective, a strategy that involves targeting "Yes" voters instead of the general public, to augment "Yes" voter turnout and decrease the general voter turnout by minimizing advertising or campaigning (Johnson, 2015). A second strategy that has demonstrated success is scheduling levy or bond elections for special elections that do not coincide with national or state elections and have a lower voter turnout,

allowing the targeted "Yes" voters to swing the vote in the school districts favor (Gong & Rogers, 2014). Another strategy for a successful campaign is the wording of the levy or bond proposal on the ballot, with renovations of existing structures, as opposed to a proposed increase in non-academic programs or facilities, being more successful (Sampson, Roberts, Glenn, Radford, & Gautam, 2016). Additionally, community characteristics have proven significant in tax referenda campaigns with a rural school districts having greater challenges in successfully passing tax levy or bonds, compared to their suburban counterparts, due to low voter turnout and farmers within the community that are large land holders who are in opposition of increasing their property taxes (Bowers, 2015).

While community characteristics may present challenges in passing school tax referenda, the community can also be a source of great support with the employment of well-constructed tactics (Johnson, 2015). Research has suggested that by including the community from the beginning of the campaign through townhall meetings, school tours, weekly updates of progress, and newspaper and radio ads, the community is more likely to support the school levy or bond, whether they have children attending the school or not (Frantz, 2014). Recent research has also found that by organizing a grassroots campaign, led by numerous volunteer community members, there is a greater chance of campaign success (Johnson, 2015).

Community College Education as a Public Good

While K-12 education is mandatory in the United States, higher education is not, which may have implications on community support of local community colleges. To

gain community support of local community college tax referenda, the question of how community members view modern higher education as a public good versus a private commodity may prove significant (Williams, 2016). Research on community willingness to pay property taxes for services has identified a greater willingness to pay taxes for services with higher ratings of quality (Reese & Zalewski, 2018).

Higher education as a public good can be traced back to the 17th century when the first colleges in colonial America were established with missions of serving the people (Sandmann, Jordan, Mull, & Valentine, 2014). While public institutions of higher education have a tradition of promoting public good through the teachings of cultural tolerance, social justice, economic equality, and civic duty (Letizia, 2017), research indicates that they also contribute to the greater good of the students and communities served through improved life and social outcomes (Schudde & Goldrick-Rab, 2015).

According to recent research, the benefits of higher education are not limited to four-year and advanced degrees, with the attainment of an associate degree having been identified as a key driver in increased lifetime earnings, higher tax revenues, a reduction in costs of public services, and a more educated and productive workforce (Levin & Garcia, 2018).

While research supports the value of higher education, the American public may not be convinced. A recent study by the Pew Research Center revealed that only 55% of Americans believe that higher education has a positive effect on America and 56% of Americans have minimal confidence in colleges and universities (Salovey, 2018). In terms of community support of the local college through property tax dollars, the issue of the value of higher education is further exacerbated in the rural setting where students are

more likely to come from families that did not attend or graduate college (Schafft, 2016). According to a recent poll conducted by the *Wall Street Journal*, "those most likely to call higher education a good investment includes those with a college degree (61%) or a post-graduate degree (66%), high-income earners (60%), and non-whites (56%)" (Dann, 2017). To gain the support of the skeptical public in terms of tax referenda, research suggests that the benefits to tax payers should be demonstrated consistently, not just during tax referenda campaigns, as individuals are more willing to pay additional taxes if they perceive a direct benefit" (Mullin et al., 2015).

While the possession of a college education appears to be significant in the willingness of community members to support higher education, recent research has also uncovered another component that may prove significant in local community college tax levy propositions. According to Brunner and Johnson (2015), older generations of voters are "significantly less likely than younger voters to support a tax increase to fund higher education" (p.74). Additionally, home ownership has proven significant in local elections pertaining to property tax increases for the support of local higher education with research indicating homeowner preference towards lower taxes (Oliver, 2012).

Regardless of the various research findings, the primary challenge in gaining community voter support for increasing property taxes for higher education may hinge on the issue of self-interest, with voter behavior a product of their own demographics, education level, preference for public services, and personal finances (Rausch, 2016).

University-Community Engagement

Seeking local funding through a property tax levy or renewal levy indicates that a community college needs resources from its community, creating a dependent relationship between the college and its community served. This dependency, however, does not constitute a true partnership, with both parties benefiting from the relationship, unless measures are taken to develop the partnership, supplying added value to the community (Ofek, 2017). The lack of a true partnership, or evidence of a mutually beneficial relationship, may negate the premise that higher education is a public good (Mtawa, Fongwa, & Wangenge-Ouma, 2016), and may have negative implications at the poll. To augment community support of the local community college, college leaders must strive to engage in communication and collaboration with community partnerships that "are better equipped to address the specific needs of the community while efficiently using the resources of both the university and community partners" (King et al., 2017, p.15).

Community partnerships and community engagement come in different forms including, but not limited to, "service, clinical practice, teaching, advocacy, or research" (King, et al., 2017, p.15). Effective community partnerships are fostered by boundary-spanning leaders who serve as bridges between the partners working towards a common goal (Adams, 2014). According to Purcell (2014), these boundary-spanners must be spread out through the college, not centralized in one department, and must possess advanced communication skills to foster collaboration. Additionally, colleges must utilize the expertise of the existing faculty and staff, strengthen internal awareness of

community engagement, foster autonomy amongst faculty leaders, and create opportunities to bring stakeholders together to promote community engagement (Palombi, LaRue, & Fierke, 2018).

Effective university-community partnerships may lead to long-term support in the presence of aligned missions and mutually beneficial outcomes, and may foster opportunities for growth, additional support, increased exposure to target audiences, and the improved fulfillment of community needs (Anderson-Butcher et al., 2018). But for true and effective university-community partnerships to occur, there must be a system of trust, the demonstration of respect for community resources, regular communication, and the development of common goals (Barrera, 2015).

In summary, the literature review that was conducted flushed out multiple themes that are relevant to the historical underpinnings of community colleges, as well as trends currently effecting the funding and support of community colleges. The community college, from its infancy as land-grant colleges in the 19th century, through its rapid growth in the 20th century to the contemporary community college of today, has focused on the delivery of higher education through increased accessibility and affordability, while predominantly addressing the current vocational training needs of the American workforce (Cohen et al., 2014). While the majority of community colleges were once funded by the communities that they served, only half of the states continue to allow funding from local tax appropriations (Mullin et al., 2015). Now the majority of community colleges, like other colleges and universities, are dependent on state tax dollar allocations and student tuition (Mitchell et al., 2015). With a dependence of state

allocations, community colleges are now dealing with the reality of fluctuating revenue streams that are a direct result of competing funds at the state level (Webber, 2018) and funding trends such as performance-based funding (Ziskin et al., 2018).

While local funding is a viable source of revenue for many community colleges, securing local support at the polls can prove to be a challenge (Phelan, 2014). Although the literature review yielded outdated research regarding community college tax referenda, the research of K-12 tax referenda provided a substantial amount of contemporary literature in terms of voter behavior and voting trends that may prove significant. Additionally, higher education as a public good and university-community engagement were explored as potential contributors to local voter behavior.

Implications

By examining community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, a white paper outlining those perceptions of the community members will be shared with the study site's board of trustees for the potential creation of initiatives with a goal of improving the community's perceptions of the study site, and for the planning of a more successful replacement levy campaign in the future. This qualitative study, while focused on a local level, may have applicability to community colleges across the country that are also located in states that allow local funding of higher education through property tax support, specifically rural community colleges with demographics similar to the study site.

Summary

In November 2017, the study site, a financially struggling rural community college, placed a renewal levy proposition on the ballot in its four-county in-district service area that failed. The failure left the administration of the study site with a lack of understanding of the failure, leaving them with more questions than answers, and the future of the institution in question due to continued financial risk. Although community college tax referenda have existed as long as community colleges have, there is minimal recent research on community college levies. The largest and most current body of literature pertains to K-12 tax referenda, and although there are parallels between the two, the body of literature is lacking. Utilizing Lewin's force field analysis for the examination of possible positive and negative forces that possibly contributed to the way community members voted on the levy derived through personal interviews of voter age community members, this study contributes to a better understanding of the levy failure. The application of Lewin's change management model provides the framework for sharing valuable information for creating initiatives for a more successful future levy campaign and contributes to the sparse body of current literature specific to community college tax referenda.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

In Section 2, I describe the methodology for this basic qualitative study used to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition. Additionally, I explain the qualitative approach utilized, how the problem and research question grounded my research approach, and the process of data collection and analysis.

Description of Qualitative Research

A basic qualitative design was used to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy. A basic qualitative inquiry was an appropriate methodology as it embodies the characteristics of qualitative research (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), yet provides for broad exploration of a topic that is poorly understood (Kahlke, 2014). According to Merriam, unlike other methodologies such as grounded theory, ethnography, and narrative methodology, a basic qualitative approach allows for focused attention on the discovery and understanding of a particular "phenomenon, a process, or the perspectives and worldviews of the people involved" (Merriam, 1998, p.11).

Justification of Research Design

The use of basic qualitative design was determined to be the appropriate methodology for this study through the process of elimination of other methodologies.

Grounded theory methodology was determined to be a poor fit for this study as it does not support the purpose of this research. Grounded theory serves two primary functions:

new theory generation and promotion of research innovation (Howard-Payne, 2016). Grounded theory methodology was not an appropriate choice because this study was not concerned with theory generation, but a better understanding of the phenomenon of interest. Ethnography methodology was not an appropriate choice as it requires people to be studied in their natural environments through observations (Hoolachan, 2015), and observation of community members would not have contributed to the examination of the community members' perceptions. Narrative methodology was determined inappropriate for this study because it focuses on the experiences of individuals expressed through story telling (Schwandt, 2014).

Basic qualitative design was the best fit for this study because of its alignment with the goal of this research, gaining a better understanding of the levy failure through the exploration of the perceptions of community members. Qualitative data analysis "involves identifying recurring patterns that characterize the data" that contribute to the "researcher's understanding of the participants' understanding of the phenomenon of interest" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p.25). The phenomenon of interest, the levy failure, was explored through the perceptions of the community members to identify recurring patterns contribute to a better understanding of the levy failure.

Participants

Participants for this study were chosen through purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling is "based on the assumption that the investigator wants to discover, understand, and gain insight and therefore must select a sample from which the most can be learned" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p.96). The selection of participants through purposeful

sampling provides a strategy for selecting cases that are in alignment with the study's purpose and best suited for answering the primary questions of the study (Patton, 2015).

The minimum criteria for research participants consisted of a minimum age of 18 years old (for voting eligibility) and a verified physical address within one of the four counties that make up the study site's in-district service area and where the study site's tax referenda are voted upon. A minimum of 12 research participants were chosen to be interviewed through purposeful sampling, a strategy aimed at gathering rich data from a small sample size (Patton, 2015). The 12 participants provided a sample that was relatively homogeneous with common experiences and perceptions (Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006). According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), in-depth information gathered from a small sample size can be just as valuable as information gathered from a large sample size if the information is rich. The sample size of 12 was chosen because previous research by Guest et al. (2006) indicated that when studying a relatively homogeneous sample of interview participants, saturation is typically achieved by the twelfth interview.

Initially, potential participants were recruited for the study through multiple recruiting tools including posting flyers on community bulletin boards at the five local public libraries that service the four-county district for two weeks, a recruiting advertisement in a local newspaper that was free for consumers and distributed in all four counties for two weeks, and a recruiting advertisement on Facebook for two weeks. This recruitment strategy provided an adequate opportunity for community members to participate in this study because it employed recruitment efforts in multiple public locations (the five libraries), in printed community-specific media (newspapers), and in

social media (Facebook). The use of multiple recruitment advertising tools decreased the potential for researcher bias by providing reasonable access to the study across the population of interest. The flyer provided my personal email address and phone number for initial contact.

To establish a researcher-participant working relationship after the 12 participants were chosen, I first sent out letters of invitation to each volunteer participant, by mail or email depending on participant preference, that explained the study, who I was, the rationale for my research, the measures I took to insure confidentiality and fairness, their protection from harm, and my appreciation for their participation. According to Rubin & Rubin (2012), "being seen as honest, open, fair, and accepting helps build trust". Additionally, I provided a detailed description of the measures that I took to protect their rights and confidentiality, including: the use of pseudonyms instead of their names, the storage of all hard-copy participant-derived research and documents in a locked filing cabinet, and an explanation that participation was voluntary and confidential. Participants were provided with an informed consent in the mail or by email along with their invitation to participate in the study that included an explanation that their participation was voluntary, an explanation of the measures that were taken to maintain confidentiality and their safety, and an explanation that they did not have to answer any question that made them uncomfortable. The consent form was also provided to the participant the day of their interview and was signed in my presence prior to the start of their interview, after I verbally explained the study in detail and answered any questions that they had.

Data Collection

The goal of any qualitative research interview is to "see the research topic from the perspective of the interviewee, and to understand how and why they have come to have this particular perspective" (Amaratunga, Baldry, Sarshar, & Newton, 2002).

Additionally, according to Patton (2015), "the purpose of interviewing, then, is to allow us to enter the other person's perspective" (p.426). Also, according to Seidman (2013), "the purpose of an in-depth interview study is to understand the experience of those who are interviewed, not to predict or to control that experience" (p. 54). The information that was collected consisted of the participants' perceptions about the way community members voted on the levy, not the participants' personal voting behavior. The use of interviews as the form of data collection was deemed appropriate as interviewing is the most common form of data collection in qualitative research, and semi-structured, indepth interviews are utilized extensively for collecting data from individuals (Jamshed, 2014).

Interview participants were recruited for participation through flyers posted at the five local libraries in the four-county in-district region, through advertisements in a local newspaper that has a circulation in all four counties, and advertisements on Facebook. The recruitment flyers and advertisements provided my contact information for prospective participants to make initial contact with me. I contacted the first 20 respondents that responded to the advertisements that met the study criteria for participation in the study, with the intention of securing a minimum of 12 participants. The study criteria consisted of a minimum age of 18, and a physical address within one of the four counties of the study site's in-district region. As potential participants responded

to the recruitment advertisements, I mailed or emailed participants, depending on participant preference, an invitation to participate in the study. It was expected that some of the first 20 respondents may not return their paperwork or may change their desire to be in the study. The letter explained the study, who I was, the rationale for my research, the measures I would take to insure confidentiality and fairness, their protection from harm, and my appreciation for their participation. The letter also informed potential participants that, there would be no compensation for participating in the study. In addition to the letter of invitation, I included a copy of the informed consent for the potential participants to review for the purpose of informed participation. The letter asked participants to contact me by email or telephone if they chose to participate in the study. As participants contacted me agreeing to participate, I scheduled them for their personal interview based on their availability and preferences. According to Seidman (2013), "in considering the time, dates, and place of interviews, in addition to considering the safety of the arrangements for both participants and interviewers, the prevailing principle must be equity" (p. 53) and the interviewer "must be flexible enough to accommodate the participants' choice of location, time, and date" (p. 53). Of the 20 initial study participation respondents, I secured 12 participants that met the study participation criteria and completed 12 interviews.

The interviews were conducted in a private conference room at the public library within the study site's in-district region of the participants' choosing. Prior to the start of each interview, I provided a hard copy of the informed consent for the participant to read, ask questions, and sign if in agreement of participation. The interviews were conducted

with the meeting room doors closed, and a "Do Not Disturb" sign was placed on the outside of the door. If I conducted more than one interview in a day at the same location, I scheduled each interview a total of two hours apart, to allow for a one-hour interview and an additional hour to avoid participant-participant interaction. Additionally, I took all interview notes, forms, and recordings with me if I left the room.

The interviews followed a semi-structured interview script designed by me that consisted of predetermined structured open-ended questions and prompts (Appendix B). The semi-structured interview was guided by a list (Appendix B) of questions or issues to be explored, that I created, using a combination of more and less structured questions that "allows the researcher to respond to the situation at hand, to the emerging worldview of the respondent, and to new ideas on the topic" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p.110).

The interviews were conducted in the participant's home county, at the local public library of the participant's choosing, in a private conference room, to provide a local, private, neutral location for accurate and unbiased research, as well as providing a measure for safety. The interviews followed a semi-structured interview script with predetermined open-ended questions (Appendix B), with each interview lasting approximately one hour. The interviews were recorded with a Sony ICD-PX370 audio recorder with the participant's assigned pseudonym (Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.) voiced at the beginning of the recording, along with the date, location, and time. In addition to conducting the interviews, I maintained a researcher's journal. My researcher's journal consisted of a reflective commentary used to record my "initial impressions of each data collection session, patterns appearing to emerge in the data

collected, and theories generated" (Shenton, 2004). The notes and impressions within my researcher's journal that are participant specific were labeled with the participants' assigned pseudonym (Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.) for protection of participant privacy.

Upon completion of each personal interview, each participant was asked if they would be willing to review the transcript of their interview and the researcher's interpretations of the participant's responses for the purpose of assuring credibility. The participants that agreed to participate in member checking were asked their preferred method of reviewing their transcript and the researcher's interpretations (email or U.S. mail). The participants were informed that they should expect my email or mail communication within five to ten business days. Upon interview completion, participants were also asked if they would like to receive a copy of the results of the study when completed.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative research, there is an understanding that the "researcher is a central figure who influences the collection, selection, and interpretation of data" (Finlay, 2002). According to Mehra (2002), the degree of connection that a researcher has with the population under study, including membership of the population themselves, can present the opportunity for bias in a research study. Regarding this doctoral project study, the concern for researcher bias is valid due to my roles and relationships with the population under study and the study site.

My relationship with the study site began in 1992 when I started my higher education journey as a college freshman at the study site. I completed 3 years before transferring to another college to earn an associate degree in sonography. In 2002, I returned to the study site for another academic year and completed my bachelor's degree in 2003. In 2006, I was hired by the study site as the Diagnostic Medical Sonography Program Director, a position I still hold today. In addition to my status as a graduate of the study site and an employment history of 13 years at the study site, I am also a lifelong resident of the study site's four-county in-district area. My extensive experience with the study site, as well as my own membership of the population under study, presented significant opportunities for researcher bias because of the strong opinions that I had about the study site and the levy failure.

Specifically, it was of my opinion that the levy failed for a number of reasons including: a lack of explanation to the community by the study site's administration as to what the levy funds would be used for, historical lack of transparency by the study site's administration, a significant history of mismanagement of funds by the study site's administration, local farm owners and property owners with significant quantities of land or high property values that are against increases in property taxes, community members that do not see a direct benefit of supporting local higher education, and community members that consistently vote against any levies.

Additionally, prior knowledge of participants would have presented challenges when selecting participants from the pool of respondents, especially if I had prior knowledge of their opinions regarding the study site and the failed tax levy. To further

minimize researcher bias, I only selected research participants who did not know me personally; or professionally. Employees of the study site were not eligible to participate in the study.

Data Analysis

Recorded interviews were transcribed using Express Scribe Pro transcription software. The transcripts were first coded for concepts that demonstrated significance to the study, followed by the identification of themes or patterns, through the connecting of concepts (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Causation coding was the primary type of coding used for this study due to its relevance to the study's purpose. Causation coding attempts to answer the question "Why?" by focusing on "people's intentions, choices, objectives, values, perspectives, expectations, needs, desires, and agency within their particular contexts and circumstances" (Saldana, 2016, p.187). While causation coding does not typically lead to a definitive answer to the "Why?", it does provide a coding method for linking potential causes with outcomes that may lead to plausible causes of a particular outcome (Saldana, 2013).

The concepts and themes mined from the interview transcripts are maintained on my personal laptop that is password protected, in addition to my researcher journal, scanned copies of research notes, and scanned copies of all participant documents. All research generated transcripts, coding, notes, consent forms, and research journal entries were anonymized with each participant's assigned pseudonym (Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.). All original hardcopy documents are stored in a locked filing cabinet in my personal office that is always locked when I am not physically present.

Evidence of Quality

Dependability

Dependability is achieved when outsiders agree that when "given the data collected, the results make sense - they are consistent and dependable" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p.251). Dependability focuses on the process of research and the researcher's responsibility for confirming that the process is "logical, traceable, and documented" (Patton, 2015). To increase dependability, I used peer debriefing by soliciting feedback from a colleague (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The peer debriefing consisted of a colleague scanning some of the raw data and assessing whether my findings were plausible, based on the data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Credibility

Credibility is achieved when research data or the participants' views are truthfully conveyed by the researcher through the researcher's interpretation of the data and representation of the participants (Polit & Beck, 2017). There are multiple methods of supporting credibility in qualitative research including the demonstration of engagement with the participants, documentation of observation methods, and providing an audit trail (Cope, 2014). Other methods of improving credibility of qualitative research, and considered by some to be the most appropriate, is member checking and peer debriefing (Schwandt, 2014). In addition to peer debriefing, I conducted member checking. Member checking is a process that allows participants to validate the researcher's conclusions by verifying data, findings, and interpretations (Patton, 2015). Member checking was conducted with the research participants that agreed to participate. A copy of the

participant's interview transcript and my interpretation of their responses was emailed or mailed to each participant, based on the participant's preference, within 10 business days of the completion of their interview. All participants that participated in member checking chose to participate by email. Eight of the 12 participants provided timely feedback to me regarding their interview transcripts and my interpretations. All participants that participated in member checking agreed with my interpretations of their interviews, confirming credibility. I also maintained a researcher's journal. My researcher's journal consisted of initial impressions and significant findings from each interview. The utilization of a researcher's journal contributed to the credibility of the study by improving internal validity by assuring that the coded data was congruent with the actual data mined from the participant interviews (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Transferability

Transferability is achieved when research findings can be applied to other settings or groups (Polit & Beck, 2017). According to Cope (2014), "researchers should provide sufficient information on the informants and the research context to enable the reader to assess the findings' capability of being "fit" or transferable". According to Connelly (2016), I ensured this study's transferability "with a rich, detailed description of the context, location, and people studied, and by being transparent about analysis and trustworthiness" (p.436).

Confirmability

Confirmability is achieved when the researcher can provide evidence that the reported findings represent the "participants' responses and not the researcher's biases or

viewpoints" (Cope, 2014, p. 89). There are multiple methods that can be used for ensuring confirmability including an audit trail, peer debriefing, keeping a researcher's journal, and member checking (Connelly, p. 435). To ensure confirmability, I maintained a researcher's journal, and conducted peer debriefing and member checks.

Data Saturation

Data saturation, or theoretical saturation, is achieved when "additional analysis no longer contributes anything new about a concept" (Schwandt, 2014). When interviews are used for data collection, saturation is realized when the "interviewer begins to hear the same information reported" and "he or she no longer learns anything new" (Seidman, 2013). In planning for achieving theoretical saturation, I chose to interview a minimum of 12 participants based on research conducted by Guest et al. (2006). According to Guest et al. (2006), for most research studies "in which the aim is to understand common perceptions and experiences among a group of relatively homogeneous individuals, twelve interviews should suffice" (p. 79). After completing 11 participant interviews, data saturation was achieved. Confirmation of data saturation was evident when the twelfth interviewee did not provide me with any new information, and the information provided was consistent with prior interviews.

Reflexivity

As a graduate of the study site, an associate professor/program director at the study site, and a resident of the four-county in-district region with personal opinions about the levy failure as described under "Role of the Researcher", there was a potential for researcher bias. By acknowledging my roles and relationships with the study site and

its community, I acknowledged that my own characteristics could affect what I heard and how I interpreted it (Babbie, 2017). To minimize researcher bias, I used reflexivity, "the process of critical self-reflection on one's biases, theoretical predispositions, preferences, and so forth" (Schwandt, 2014). According to Finlay (2002), "through the use of reflexivity, subjectivity in research can be transformed from a problem to an opportunity" (p. 531).

Discrepant Cases

When analyzing research, researchers may encounter discrepant or deviant cases, "cases that depart from the regularities that emerge in the data analysis or give rise to contradictory classificatory results" (Mauceri, 2014, p. 2779). According to Booth, Carroll, Ilott, Low, and Cooper (2013), "actively seeking the disconfirming or deviant case is properly regarded as a hallmark of trustworthiness in primary qualitative research" (p. 126). Therefore, to further improve trustworthiness of the study, discrepant cases or outliers were coded and reported to resist the temptation to "neatly package theorizing and simplistically coherent conclusions" (McPherson & Thorne, 2006, p.9).

Data Analysis Results

The problem for this study was the failure of the study site's property tax replacement levy. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, to better understand the levy failure. Based on the 12 personal interviews that I conducted, community members are tired of paying additional property taxes that levies generate, especially for levies that do not provide a clear and

direct benefit to the taxpayer. Community members either did not know about the levy, or if they did, they did not understand the levy. Community members knew too little about the community college and its offerings and felt that the study site maintained a "quiet" presence in the community. Multiple community members discussed the benefits of having an active community college in the local community. Those benefits included close-to-home options for their children and non-traditional students, economic benefits from better education opportunities close to home, and opportunities for economic growth of the community. Although those perceived benefits were acknowledged, the benefits were overshadowed by the community members' limited knowledge of the community college, and the services that it provides. The limited knowledge that the community possessed about the study site resulted in a lack of priority in comparison to competing levies. Community members felt that the timing of the levy was wrong with multiple competing levies on the ballot, especially in one county where another controversial levy garnered a lot of attention. Community members felt that placing the levy on the May Primary, as opposed to the November Election Day, or holding a special election may have proven to be more successful. While community members do not feel that putting the replacement tax levy on the ballot again in the near future would have a different outcome, they did state that with actual improvements made by the study site in programming, community services, and a significant increase in information dissemination, a replacement tax levy campaign in a few years, could prove more successful

In this section, I describe the major themes and findings from my analysis of the data gathered from the personal interviews of community members. The major themes and findings are discussed in relationship to the conceptual framework and research question of the study. The research question was as follows:

RQ1: What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the replacement levy?

An analysis of the data derived from the research question yielded the following four themes: (a) value of higher education, (b) community involvement, (c) knowledge of the levy; and (d) levy prioritization.

Coding Process

According to Babbie, coding is the "key process in the analysis of qualitative social research" that contributes to the identification of patterns that "point to a theoretical understanding of social life" (Babbie, 2017, p. 397). Coding is conducted in stages, with the first stage consisting of the researcher identifying a word or short phrase that represents the data, providing an interpretive meaning for future coding purposes of "pattern detection, categorization, assertion or proposition development, theory building, and other analytic processes" (Saldana, 2016, p. 4). The second cycle of coding leads to the development of "higher-level themes, concepts, assertions, and theory" through further analysis of interview transcripts, analytic memos, and evaluation of first-cycle coding results (Saldana, 2016, p. 232).

To begin the coding process, I first transcribed each interview by playing back each interview at a reduced speed while typing the interview using Express Scribe Pro

software. During the first transcription process, I transcribed the entire interview verbatim. Upon completion of the first transcription, I then edited out unnecessary words and verbal identifiers (e.g. "um", "you know", occupations, employers, gender pronouns, and age). I also removed additional conversations that were off topic. Once the transcripts were cleaned up, I printed hardcopies and read through them, highlighting significant responses that aligned with the research question.

From the highlighted transcripts, I made a list of the common responses of each interview question. By reviewing the transcripts, listening to the recorded interviews repeatedly, and reviewing the list of common responses, I completed the first cycle of coding utilizing causation coding. According to Saldana (2016), causation coding attempts to reveal "what people believe about events and their causes" (p.187). After developing 14 codes from the first cycle of causation coding (See Table 1.), I then completed the second cycle of coding by reviewing the resulting codes and categorizing them based on similarities. For example, most participants discussed that the rationale of the replacement levy was *poorly communicated*, and that the community members had limited *knowledge of the levy*, resulting in a *distrust* of the college and its administration. *Poor communication, levy knowledge*, and *distrust* were transitioned into the theme of *Knowledge of Levy*. This process of categorizing codes based on similarities resulted in four themes (See Table 2).

After establishing the four themes as a result of causation coding, I compared the codes and themes against the study's conceptual framework. The conceptual framework for this qualitative study is based on Lewin's change management model (Wojciechowski

et al., 2016). Lewin's model suggested three steps for the successful orchestration of organizational change (Rosenbaum et al., 2018). In terms of this study, the desired change is a future successful replacement levy campaign.

The first step in Lewin's model is to unfreeze, which consists of identifying and evaluating the change inhibitors and change enhancers (positive and negative forces) (Rosenbaum et al., 2018). Each of the 14 identified codes are in alignment with the identification of change enhancers and change inhibitors (positive and negative forces), that can be used in the process of Lewin's forcefield analysis, "a model for change that shows the relationship between the driving forces for positive change and the constraining forces against change" (Swanson & Creed, 2014, p. 31). For example, the code *value*, was derived from multiple participant's perceptions, that community members may have voted in favor of the replacement tax levy, because they value higher education. Conversely, the code *lack of value*, was based on the perceptions of several participants who believed that the community members who did not support the levy also did not value higher education. Based on Lewin's forcefield analysis, the participant's perceptions that community members who voted "YES" in the election valued higher education, is considered a positive driving force, while those who voted "NO" because they did not value higher education, is a negative driving force. The community's perceptions represented by the code value, a code identified as a change enhancer (positive force), could be strengthened through community college initiatives "to direct forces away from the status quo" (Swanson & Creed, 2014, p.30). The community's perceptions represented by the code lack of value, a code identified as a change inhibitor

(negative force), could be addressed by community college initiatives that would "decrease restraining forces that hinder move" (Swanson & Creed, 2014, p.30). Both *value* and *lack of value* are examples of codes with potential implications for change that may contribute to a more successful future levy campaign.

Table 1

Comparison of Research Question and Codes

	Research Question	Codes	
RQ1: What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the	Question	 Value Lack of value Outreach Services offered Community presence Success stories Program offerings Better marketing Levy knowledge Poor communication Distrust Competing levies 	
replacement levy?		13. Poor communication14. Timing	

Findings

Four themes were identified through causation coding and by categorizing the 14 identified codes based on their similarities. The four resulting themes are as follows: (a) value of higher education, (b) opportunities, (c) knowledge of the levy, and (d) levy prioritization. All four themes align with both the research question and the conceptual framework (Table 2).

Table 2

Themes and Relevant Codes

	Themes	Codes
	Value of Higher Education	Value Lack of value
2. (Opportunities	Outreach Community presence Services offered Success stories Program offerings Better marketing
	Knowledge of the Levy	Levy knowledge Poor communication Distrust
4.	Levy Prioritization	Competing levies Poor communication Timing

Theme 1: Value of Higher Education

The majority of the community members who participated in the study, shared a common perception that those who voted "YES" in support of the study site's 2017 replacement tax levy, valued higher education. Participant 8 stated that the people who voted in favor of the levy, "probably have a college degree and have jobs, and understand the connection between college and what your future finances look like". Participants were also in agreement that community members who had children or grandchildren attending the study site, or family members employed by the study site, may have

supported the levy because they had a personal connection to the study site, and the study site's success would have a direct impact on their family.

Codes. The two codes that formed this theme are (a) value (b) and lack of value. Value was consistently mentioned in participant responses. Whether participants discussed the value of higher education as a whole or the value of the study site itself, all participants discussed that recognizable value was important in the levy vote.

Value. When discussing community member's willingness to support the levy, most participants felt that the support was based on community member's perceptions that there is value in higher education as a whole, there is value in having a successful community college in their community, and there are social benefits to the community regardless if members have a direct tie to the college. Participant 8 said "If your community is filled with educated people, hopefully, things are better for everybody". Participant 7 explained that with education, "there is a better opportunity for jobs and better opportunities for advancement and an improved social structure".

The study site has three academic centers in addition to the main campus, providing educational access in all four counties that comprise the study site's in-district region. The study site's physical presence in all four counties was significant. Participants felt that having that convenience was instrumental in the perception of value to the residents of the communities that are located a significant distance from the main campus. All participants believed that the academic centers provide local access to higher education which is instrumental in addressing the needs of students with limited financial resources and support, as well as the needs of non-traditional students. Participant 9 said

"Personally, the academic center helped me immensely". The convenience of high school College Credit Plus (CCP) students having the opportunity to take college courses close to their high school, for free, was also perceived as a significant value.

Lack of value. All participants believed that those community members that did not support the tax levy did not value higher education, did not see the value of the study site, or did not have a personal connection with the study site. Participant 9 also felt that "there's been a big switch to an animosity towards higher education" and that there was a local resident, who is an influential member of the community, "who was very vocal against college education" telling high school students that they could "go to a trade school and not waste their money on college". Participant 4 stated that "This is a tough community to sell education to, and that is sad. In this area, a lot of people do not value higher education, or see the need for college, because they are making it and they are fine with that". Participant 10 explained that "Improving educational services benefits the community as a whole regardless of whether or not you, or your children, are going to attend the college; but, most people just see the levy as more taxes, not a benefit to them. Participant 3 stated that "just because a person does not have a child that may attend the college, they are still going to benefit from the college's success. It benefits the community, as a whole, to have that, and to have people staying in the area, and it creates a snowball effect of economic growth that I do not think people understand". Participant 10 said "I think the biggest reason for the levy failure was that people do not want to shell more money out for something that they do not see a benefit from".

The lack of community services provided to the communities, outside of tuition-

based services, as perceived by the participants, was thought to be significant by the participants in the determination of value. Participants could not provide a single example of a community service provided by the study site. Therefore, participants felt that if you were not directly connected through the college as a graduate, a parent of a current or future student, or an employee of the college, or if you did not understand the social and economic benefits of higher education in your community, it may have been difficult for some community members to find a reason to support the levy.

Theme 2: Opportunities

Aside from the study site's presence in local parades and booths at the local county fairs, most participants could not provide examples of how the college maintains a presence in the community or supports the community outside of tuition-based activities. The participants discussed multiple methods that could be employed by the study site to increase community members' perceptions of value of the study site. Participant 2 stated that "There needs to be a whole different presentation of what the community college can do for the community". When Participant 9 was asked if there were any community benefits or services that the college provides that may have contributed to community members voting "YES", they responded "I do not really know if they are responsible for anything, and I'll be honest, I think that's another part of the levy failure".

Codes. The six codes that formed this theme are (a) outreach, (b) services offered, (c) community presence, (d) success stories, (e) program offerings, and (f) better marketing. While trying to draw out examples of community involvement that may have contributed to levy support, it became obvious that the majority of participants were not

aware of any opportunities or services that the college offered outside of tuition-based education services. Participant 8 stated that the college is "quiet in this community".

Outreach. When asked about community outreach, or opportunities that the college provides to the community, Participant 6 answered "I do not know of any off the top of my head". The response of Participant 6 was not unique, as only one of the remaining 11 participants were able to name an opportunity or service that the college provides outside of tuition-based academics. Participant 6 went on to explain that if the college offered enrichment courses or workplace training, those opportunities would "go a long way in gaining community support". Examples of potential opportunities that Participant 6 provided included "Lunch and Learns" on topics that would be useful in the workplace, such as Excel and Word, or courses offered at discounted rates through employers that would lead to earning a certificate.

Participant 10 discussed an opportunity that was given to them by another college years ago that they felt would be beneficial not only to the community, but also beneficial to the study site in gaining community support and recruiting students. The opportunity that Participant 10 discussed was a course offered to potential college students to learn more about college and how to get started. Participant 10 did not think that college would ever be possible for them. Their parents did not promote college, or even discuss college with them. Years later, as a working adult, Participant 10 was encouraged by coworkers about the possibility of going to college and proceeded to contact the college. At that time, the college was offering the introductory course free to the community, and

students that completed the class were given their first college credit for free. Participant 10 said "That meant a lot to me".

Services offered. Participant 9 was able to discuss one community outreach program that is offered on the main campus, a program that provides lunch to senior citizens on campus in the cafeteria, and stated "that is a great program on campus with the aging population"; however, they could not name any other programs or services provided on the main campus, at the academic centers, or in the community. Other participants were not able to name any services offered to the community by the study site. Participant 10 stated "I do not know if they have any programs or services that they offer, and if they do, I am not aware of it". Participant 10 discussed programs offered by other area colleges such as after-school programs for children and summer programs for children to learn about science and actively participate in educational science projects.

Community presence. Multiple participants discussed that the study site is lacking a presence in the community. While multiple participants mentioned the college being in parades and having a booth at the local county fairs, Participant 9 said that was insignificant because other colleges were there, as well. Participant 2 added that in their home county, the study site is also at Job and Family Services events, and that leads to a perception that the college is "targeting the welfare population". Participant 2 said "so they are at the county fair and the welfare events, but nowhere else, and that leaves a bad taste in the mouths of the working, tax-paying population". Participant 5 also discussed the connection between government benefits and the study site. Participant 5 stated that through their employment they saw "a lot of people relying on it. They would get

enrolled at the [study site], receive their school money, and pay their court fines with the money, with no intention of paying it back, or finishing their courses". Participant 5 also explained that due to recent limitations on government assistance, recipients run out of cash assistance after approximately 36 months. Participant 5 believes that case workers tell recipients that although no longer entitled to more cash, with enrollment in college, additional money is available. Participant 5 said "There is definitely a perception that there is a connection between the [study site] and the welfare population".

Multiple participants also discussed that the study site needs a greater presence in the local high schools. Participant 2 stated that they just became aware of the College Credit Plus (CCP) options offered to area high school students by the study site.

Participant 2 said the only way they found out about it was through a letter sent to their child, a junior in high school, from the study site, not from the guidance counselor.

Participant 6 explained that the high school guidance counselors do not promote the study site or the CCP offerings, and their child said, when they were a senior in high school, "I wish I had known about that option". Participant 9 stated that another college, that is over 60 miles from any part of the study site's four-county service area, "has more of a presence in the high school" than the study site. Participant 4 said "I do not think that there is enough information out at the high school level that is enticing students to look at the [study site] first, and that is big."

Participant 2 also discussed how the study site does not routinely send representatives to the various community organizations' meetings or political meetings, such as the Rotary Club meetings, Chamber of Commerce meetings, or the County

Commissioner's meetings. Participant 2 discussed that the study site needs to send a representative to the various meetings in the four-county district "just to let us know what the college is currently doing". In addition to meeting attendance providing a venue for information dissemination, Participant 2 explained that "the newspaper is always there and that is free advertising!". Participant 8 also discussed that if the college would offer to send guest speakers to civic club meetings, like the Rotary Club, to do presentations on programming or faculty research, it would increase community presence and would lead to promotion of the college through word of mouth like "Oh, we had this really interesting speaker from the college".

Participant 10 discussed that the study site could improve its community presence by offering different community education nights, college department events, speaking events, activities for children, and activities for senior citizens. Participant 10 stated "There is a lot of need in the community, and it would not be that hard to search out what is needed, or even what other colleges are doing". Participant 2 stated that "we need to see them as partners in our community".

Success stories. Participants discussed the potential impact of the study site publishing success stories of local students in marketing material and on the institution's website. Participant 5 said "I think seeing more local individuals that have benefited from an education from the [study site] and have had life-changing experiences because of that education, sharing their personal stories would be very beneficial". Participant 9 stated that "Some of these children do not believe they have a future to begin with. So, when

you tell them that they can go to college and do this or that, they do not believe you. So, put out some success stories and show them that they really can".

Participant 8 discussed billboards that used to be in the area that made a huge impact on their decision to go to college for the first time as a working adult with a family. The billboards depicted children of Appalachia that had succeeded in earning a college degree. Participant 8 said "I always wanted to be on one of those signs, because for me, as a kid, to even think about going to college, I might as well have said I was going to the moon". Participant 8 and Participant 9, both said that children and adults alike, do not realize that a college education is possible, and they need to hear real stories about real people from their community succeeding.

Program offerings. Participants discussed that the study site needed to update their program offerings to better address the current market demands. Participant 4 said with so many high school students taking vocational programs, "I would love to see more of the type of programs that are offered at the high school level that require further training or credentials, to be offered at the [study site], especially considering most of our vocational students that do go on to college, go to another college that is not in our county". When I asked Participant 4 what vocational programs would work well with the high school's offerings, they said that the [study site] needed to offer a degree in welding to compliment the high school's vocational/technical welding program offerings. The significance of this response is that the study site "has offered a welding certificate since 2005, and an associate degree in welding since 2013" (Study Site School Chair, personal communication, February 7, 2020).

Participant 2 said that their child wants to major in computer forensics, but the closest program is at least 2 hours away. Participant 2 also said that in addition to more relevant degree majors, "community residents also want to see rigor in the programs". Participant 2 said "I wish my kid could go to the [study site], but that is just not an option right now". Participant 11 stated that "If the [study site] offered something that I needed; I would go there. But they do not offer anything that I need".

Participant 3 said "We need more local education opportunities. I am an alumnus of the [study site] and I think it needs a booster shot to get more variety of things that a local student coming out of high school is going to look for. Adult students also need programs that are going to help their career and their future". Participant 4 said that the study site needs to offer more programs for "people that are going to stay in the community but are not going to go for a four-year degree". Participant 3 also said "I think the traditional liberal arts programs are not as important in this area as career training, and I think that needs to be the focus".

Better marketing. Multiple participants discussed that the study site is substantially lacking in marketing their programs, services, and student outcomes. Participant 8 said that it is important to let people know the good things that are going on at the study sight such as "graduation rates compared to other local colleges, and program success stories". Participant 12 said that family members that live in a neighboring county of the study site's four-county district, do not know anything about the study site, and the study site needs to "put information out there! Put up fliers, advertise, do whatever you have to do to get that information out there!". Participant 9 said "That is the

thing with the [study site], it is not marketed well". Participant 9 said, the study site has "a lot of good things happening. But who knows that? It is the best kept secret and that is not a good thing". Participant 2 said "I think that it is a really good time to rebrand the [study site] and make it more of a community partner, and a better option for local students. That is how the [study site] will win a replacement levy campaign".

Theme 3: Knowledge of the Levy

The knowledge of the levy, or lack thereof, proved to be a significant issue as perceived by the study participants. Prior to starting their interview, the majority of participants asked me to explain the levy and how the levy would have worked in each of the four counties. Most of the participants did not understand that the replacement levy had to pass in all four counties for the replacement levy to go into effect. A few participants thought that the replacement levy was different in each of the four counties, with their property tax dollars contributing to the campus in their county, not the entire institution.

The participants described a levy campaign that poorly communicated the purpose of the levy and what the generated funds would be used for, leaving community members with a sense of distrust in the study site and its administration. Additionally, participants discussed that the study site does not communicate with its communities served on a regular basis, which added to the community's limited knowledge of what the study site offers to its students and its communities.

Codes. The three codes that contributed to this theme include (a) levy knowledge, (b) poor communication, and (c) distrust. Participants believed that the lack of levy

knowledge and poor communication of the levy's purpose, contributed to distrust, even in those community members that were supporters of higher education.

Levy knowledge. The majority of participants explained that most people did not know anything about the levy. Participant 9 stated that "no one understood what the levy was for" and felt that those who voted in support of the levy, were probably those who knew more about the levy through being a student at the college, or having someone in their family going to school there, or from working there. However, Participant 9 also revealed that in 2017, the year of the tax replacement levy, they were a student at the study site and "I had no clue that there was even a levy or even understood what it meant". Participant 5 explained that "there was not much communication about what the levy would mean dollar-wise". Participant 10 asked "Where was the levy money going? To improve the conditions of the college? To improve the technology of the college? Because those are the things that taxpayers want to know." Participant 2 stated that "The bottom line is that the community did not know anything about the levy. There was not enough education put out for the community".

Poor communication. In addition to the study site not providing enough information to the community about the tax levy, all participants discussed that the study site does not communicate well with its community in general. Participant 12 stated that community members do not know anything about the [study site] or the programs offered". Participant 12 also said "I do not even know what goes on over there! Do they have a volleyball team? Because if they did, I would go watch their home games." The significance of Participant 12's lack of knowledge of a volleyball team is that Participant

12 has lived 10 minutes from the main campus for 8 years, has lived in the four-county district their whole life, and the study site "has had a volleyball team since 1976" (Study Site Archivist, personal communication, February 7, 2020). Participant 11 added to the perception of poor communication when they commented that they had no idea that the study site had collegiate sports or residential dormitories. Participant 11's statement was significant because they had lived in the four-county district their whole life, and I confirmed with the study site's archivist that the college has been a residential campus since 1876, and the study site has offered collegiate sports since 1911 (Study Site Archivist, personal communication, February 7, 2020). Participant 10 stated "I think that they need to show what the college is doing in some manner". Participant 9 said that if "you do not take the initiative to check out the [study site] on your own, you will not know what they have to offer, because the communication is just not there".

Distrust. Participants were of the opinion, that due to the poor communication by the study site to the community about the intentions and logistics of the replacement tax levy, that community members were skeptical about the levy and how the funds generated would have been used. Participant 1 discussed that they had heard from community members that the levy-generated funds would most likely increase administrators' salaries. Participant 4 stated that "people want to know where their hardearned money is going, and they are not going to just trust that the right things are going to be funded".

Participant 11 discussed that prior to the replacement tax levy proposition, the study site purchased land in one of the four counties, put in a driveway, and a sign that

advertised that a facility was coming soon. Participant 11 stated that community members of that county believed that a new building would be built, eliminating the need for the academic center to be housed in an old high school building that has limited space and resources. Participant 11 said that community members looked at that land acquisition as a promise for better opportunities, but construction was not started, and then the study site put the tax levy on the ballot. Participant 11 said community members felt like the study site made it look like "We had money to start this project, but now we need more money". Participant 11 said that regardless if that is actually what happened, that is how the community perceived it. Participant 11 stated that the land acquisition appeared to be a campaign ploy of false promises to get those community members to support the levy. Participant 11 said that "it did not look like good planning on the college's part, and it was timed wrong in relationship to the replacement tax levy proposition".

Participant 2 also discussed that after the levy failure, the study site "has fallen off of the map and slid behind the big curtain. Even for those that supported the levy, I do not think that the [study site] strongly said thank you for the support. The [study site] also did not ask for feedback about the levy failure, to figure out what was done right and what was done wrong. And that is a real problem".

Theme 4: Levy Prioritization

Participant 12 provided a response that was a good representation of all participants' responses. Participant 12 stated "If they did not know anything about the school, or the classes offered, then the levy was not a priority. The counties are poor around here, and people do not have the money to spend on more levies. People are just

sick of paying taxes and feel taxed to death. Then you have to prioritize if you go to vote, and then there are six levies on the ballot? That is a very personal thing".

Codes. The three codes that formed this theme are (a) competing levies, (b) poor communication, and (c) timing. Participants believed that with multiple levies on the ballot in November 2017, community members had to prioritize which levies were important enough to them to justify the allocation of their limited resources. With limited knowledge of the study site's levy intentions, limited knowledge of the study site, limited appreciation of the value of higher education for the community, and multiple levies competing for funding, the participants believed that the study site's renewal levy was not a priority for community members.

Competing levies. Participants discussed that people do not like paying more taxes, and that it takes a clear demonstration of value to the taxpayer to garner support. Participants explained that community members may prioritize the levies on a ballot in terms of the perceived value to the individual. Participant 10 stated "For example, an adult that does not have kids, and the schools are trying to raise taxes to help pay for a new school or new buses, they may not see the benefit for that if they do not think it affects them". Participant 6 explained that "there were too many levies on that ballot! People will ask themselves what is the most important one? I will vote for one, or maybe two, and that is enough!". Participant 8 said that when prioritizing competing levies, the study site's replacement levy "would be down there on the bottom because it does not seem that important in comparison".

Poor communication. Participants did not believe that there was enough information presented to the voting community about why the replacement tax levy was needed and what the funds would be used for. Participant 1 said "They may have thought there was not enough information being provided for what their money was going towards. What is their goal for the money? People may be suspicious if enough information is not provided. People may not see something good about putting money into something that they do not know enough about". Participant 1 stated that in the event that the study site attempts the replacement levy again, they need to "make sure the levy is worded well with complete start date and end date information. They also need to provide goals and explain what the generated money will be used for, and the results that they hope to see". Participant 4 explained that "there are a lot of times that the first time someone reads a levy proposition is when they are in the voting booth with the ballot in front of them. If they do not know any background behind the levy proposition, and if the levy is worded poorly, or the first few lines are not well written, the voter will not support the levy".

Timing. Participants discussed that the timing of the levy may have had an influence on voting behavior due to the number of issues on the ballot at that time. Participant 5 explained that at the time of the study site's replacement levy, there were four or five levies on the ballot and most of them failed, and that it was probably a "cumulative effect. No more damn taxes!". Participant 3 explained that there were several levies on their ballot that election and "I think people were just overwhelmed by it".

Multiple participants also discussed a controversial levy that was on the same ballot in their county that drew a lot of attention, and Participant 4 felt that it "hugely affected the outcome" of the study site's levy. Participant 10 explained that the controversial levy was heavily campaigned for in the community, and the community was provided extensive information about the levy's intentions, leading to the study site's levy being overshadowed because "everybody was so focused on the other levy and did not know about the [study site's] levy at all".

Participant 2 explained that through personal experience, putting issues such as levies on the May Primary, as opposed to Election Day, results in more favorable outcomes because there are fewer races on the ballot and there is less of a "likelihood of people coming out and organizing against you". Participant 12 said "I always think things do better in the May Primary, rather than November, because everybody throws everything on in November". Participant 7 felt that the November election is "too close to the holidays and the end of the year, when people are trying to pinch their pennies a little harder". Participant 1 stated "I do not know if there is an ideal time to put a levy on, but maybe in the springtime, people are feeling more optimistic and may be more likely to support a levy." Participant 11, on the other hand, felt that it does not matter when you put an education levy on the ballot because "educated people are more likely to support an education levy regardless of the timing".

Participant 6 also discussed a local levy that was finally passed after multiple failed attempts by holding a special election. Participant 6 stated that it "took a ton of work, but it finally passed with a special election". Participant 5 discussed their

experience with special elections and said "If you are willing to pay for a special election, then you can just get the word out to the people that it means a lot to, and the anti's are not usually that strong about getting out there to vote if there are no other things to vote on". Participant 1 felt that holding a special election may prove beneficial because with regular elections, "there is too much, and voters become focused on one thing".

Participant 2 stated that with the current opinions of the study site in the community, a special election would not have a favorable outcome for the study site, but if the study site "was busting at the seams with new program ideas, and new promises to the community, then a special election would absolutely work for them". Participant 1 stated that regardless of when the levy is placed back on the ballot, "The college needs to have somebody that is able to explain the levy to people in-depth, and be able to answer any questions that they may have, because that did not happen the last time".

Conclusion

A basic qualitative design was used to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy. Twelve participants were secured through purposeful sampling. The selection of participants through purposeful sampling provided a strategy for selecting cases that were in alignment with the study's purpose and best suited for answering the primary questions of the study (Patton, 2015). From the data that was mined from the 12 participant interviews, I was able to provide thick and rich descriptions of the community members' perceptions of the study site's replacement levy failure, providing detailed answers to the study's research question.

RQ1: What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the replacement levy? Findings suggest that there are a few positive forces that may have contributed towards community support of the failed replacement tax levy including convenience of the academic centers, community members that value higher education, and community members that have personally benefited from their education received from the study site. Findings were more significant regarding the negative forces that may have contributed to community members' lack of levy support including a lack of levy knowledge, a lack of perceived value of the study site, a lack of perceived value of higher education, poor communication from the study site, a lack of marketable program offerings, a lack of marketing of the study site, competing levies, and a lack of community presence by the study site.

Based on my findings, and the application of Lewin's forcefield analysis, the study site has multiple weaknesses, or negative forces, that need to be addressed before another replacement tax levy should be considered again. Conversely, the study site has a few strengths, or positive forces, that need to be strengthened through better marketing strategies. Additionally, the strengths and weaknesses, or positive and negative forces, need to be addressed, not only for future levy campaign purposes, but to strengthen its ties with the community for improved student enrollment, improved student retention, and overall improved community relations. The project deliverable is a white paper to be shared with the college leaders, to provide a summary of the findings of the study and recommendations for positive organizational change.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

In November 2017, a financially struggling community college located in rural Appalachia placed a replacement tax levy on the ballot in its four-county service area. The decision to propose a replacement tax levy was based on a feasibility study conducted by an external consulting firm in the four-county district, that suggested that the tax referendum would pass with minimal campaigning. The replacement tax levy proposal failed in each of the four counties, leaving the community college's administration with a lack of understanding as to why the levy failed. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition.

Based on the findings of this research study, community members that supported the levy may have chosen to do so because they value higher education and realize the societal benefits that the presence of a local institution of higher education can bring to a community. However, many community members are tired of paying property taxes for services that do not demonstrate a direct value to the taxpayer. Community members described the November 2017 levy campaign, as conducted by the college leadership, as inadequate in informing the community about the levy and its purpose. Community members may be more inclined to support a future tax levy if the community college improved its marketing practices, increased communication and transparency with the community, offered more marketable programs of study, demonstrated a stronger presence in the community and local high schools, and offered more services to the

community outside of tuition-based education. Community members also suggested that placing a future tax levy on the May Primary, as opposed to the November Election Day, or holding a special election, may prove more successful due to a decreased number of propositions on those ballots.

In alignment with my research findings, I chose to write a white paper that summarized the findings of my research and provided recommendations to the community college's administration, for the purpose of strengthening community relations, and planning for a more successful future replacement tax levy campaign. In this section, I will provide the rationale in choosing a white paper for my project, a review of the literature in alignment with my research findings, the description of my project, an evaluation plan for my project, and potential implications of my project.

Rationale

In November 2017, the study site, a financially struggling community college in rural Appalachia, experienced a significant disappointment when a proposed replacement tax levy failed in the election. The administration did not understand what contributed to the significant failure because a feasibility study, conducted by an external consulting agency prior to the election, led college leaders to believe that the levy would pass. By conducting interviews of community members at the local level, I found that the value of higher education may be in question at the local level, in both theoretical and applied contexts. To improve community members' perception of the value of higher education, specific to the local community college, participants suggested that the community college increase their community outreach efforts, provide more services to the

community, and increase their presence in the community. Study participants demonstrated a desire for the community college to improve their marketing efforts, with specific references to the sharing of student and graduate success stories. Additionally, research findings suggested that the community college need to offer more programs that are more relevant to the local industry demand. Study participants discussed how the proposed tax levy was poorly communicated, with the lack of communication contributing to distrust in the purpose of the levy, which ultimately led to community members ranking the levy low in priority when compared to other levy proposals on the ballot.

The findings of this study could be beneficial to the administration of the community college in future planning efforts to improve community support of the community college, and in planning for a more successful future levy campaign. To share the findings of this study, the presentation of a white paper to the community college's administration and board of trustees would be an appropriate project genre. The purpose of a white paper is to advocate for certain solutions that address specific problems (Purdue University, n.d.). Through my research, I have identified problems and potential solutions to those problems, that may prove beneficial to the community college in improving community support of the college and in planning for a more successful future levy campaign. The synthesis of current literature and research in alignment with my study findings, will provide a mechanism for ensuring the appropriateness of the solutions proposed in my white paper.

Review of the Literature

In this literature review, I have provided a review of the current literature and research to expand on the community members' perceptions of the levy failure and their recommendations for the community college to increase community support, and plan for a more successful future tax levy campaign. I began my literature review by searching EBSCO, Education Source, ERIC, and SAGE Journals databases. The search terms that I used included *community engagement, higher education marketing, community partnerships, community college funding, K-12 tax referenda, voter behavior, community engagement, and election timing.*

In addition to conducting a literature review to expand upon the research findings of this study, I also reviewed the literature specific to the benefits and purposes of the white paper in guiding institutional change. The literature review of the white paper provides evidence of the appropriateness of a white paper as the genre of this project study. I began my literature review of white papers by searching EBSCO, Education Source, ERIC, and SAGE Journals databases. The search terms that I used included white paper purpose, white paper benefits, white paper in education, white paper in higher education, and white paper initiatives.

In this section I provide a synthesis of the current literature. I begin with a review of the white paper to demonstrate that it is an appropriate choice to address the research problem, share research findings, and provide possible solutions. Then I discuss the current research that addresses the four themes generated from this study: (a) value of higher education, (b) opportunities, (c) knowledge of the levy, and (d) levy prioritization.

White Paper Genre

According to Kolowich (2018), "a whitepaper is a persuasive, authoritative, indepth report on a specific topic that presents a problem and provides a solution". White papers are commonly used in multiple disciplines to "discuss challenges and issues faced in the industry and provide solutions on how to overcome them" (Corporate Finance Institute, 2020). The use of a white paper to convey the research findings and provide recommendations to college leadership is consistent with current practices in higher education research and policy development as demonstrated by current white papers in the higher education industry. Examples of recent white papers in higher education are described as follows: In 2019, the State Higher Education Executive Officers Association (Tandberg, Bruecker, & Weeden, 2019) published a white paper on the state's role in ensuring quality and consumer protection in higher education. McAlvage and Rice (2018) published a white paper for improving digital accessibility in K-12 education and higher education that provided definitions for concepts that related to digital accessibility, practical and policy perspectives, and helpful references and resources. In 2019, Sullivan and Stergios published a white paper with the goals of increasing education options available to parents and students, driving system-wide reform, and ensuring accountability in public education.

A white paper is an "in-depth report that focuses on a specific problem and the solutions to that problem" (Medina, 2017). In terms of this study, the problem was the levy failure. The problem was exacerbated by the college administrators not having a clear understanding as to what went wrong in 2017. The white paper that has been written

as the result of the research findings provides valuable insight into the problem, including the problem's contributing factors as perceived by community members, and a list of potential solutions based on the research participants' feedback.

Value of Higher Education

Community members believed that one of the key contributors to the voting behaviors of community members was the value of higher education as perceived by community members. Participants felt that the perception of value was personal, with community members' voting behavior affected by their beliefs about the value of higher education as a whole, and their beliefs about the value of the community college. The concept of the value in higher education has been a common platform in American politics linking education to "economic strength, social justice for society, and a better life for individuals" (Novakovic, 2019, p.758). To clearly demonstrate value to the community served, community colleges are charged with a mission to provide access to higher education, equity in the delivery of higher education, and demonstrate responsiveness to the needs of the community served (Soto, 2019). The demonstration of value by institutions of higher education is often evaluated in terms of their relevance and the contributions they make to the communities that they serve (DePrince & DiEnno, 2019). Tomlinson (2018) explained that the purpose of higher education, and the perception of benefits to both the individual, and society, contributes to the concept of value.

Opportunities

To increase the perception of the value of higher education in the community, and the value of the community college, study participants provided numerous suggestions for the community college's administration. Those suggestions included improving community outreach, increasing the college's presence in the community, increasing services offered to the public, sharing success stories of local students and graduates, providing more relevant and marketable programs of study, and developing a better marketing strategy.

Outreach. At a time when higher education institutions are "encountering greater competition, cutbacks in public financing, and a more heterogeneous body of incoming students, the need to improve efficiency and effectiveness in the process of recruiting and retaining students is evident" (Trullas, Simo, Fusalba, Fito, & Sallan, 2018, p.266).

Students often desire to go to college, but even qualifying for college is not always enough to see their dream through. Students commonly face barriers that may prevent applying to college such as finances, a lack of college-readiness, a lack of college information, and a lack of confidence in their own abilities (Rosecrance et al., 2019). One recommendation made by participants for improving the college's outreach, student recruitment efforts, and student support included offering a free "Introduction to College" course. There was a common feeling amongst participants that many potential students in the community college's service area do not believe that college is an option for them.

Whether it is due to financial constraints, lack of family support, lack of confidence, or a lack of knowledge about how to get started, it was believed that offering a free course

could potentially open doors for potential students that would fall through the cracks otherwise. According to a Public Agenda Report (2017), well-constructed community outreach can "help unearth critical internal and external obstacles to student success and generate solutions that can be collaboratively pursued" (p.3). Spearheading a similar initiative, Chattanooga State Community College, has developed a successful project that provides a 15-hour, two-week program to students where they "develop a self-reflection inventory, explore career options and pathways, and get connected with a mentor from a local business" (Finley, 2016, p.16).

Another recommendation made by study participants would be for the community college to offer "Lunch and Learns" or other educational opportunities in the workplace that could lead to new certifications. According to Nagele, Neuenschwander, and Rodcharoen (2018), completing further education and training "helps an individual to advance his or her career, gain access to employment, and sustain and develop skills needed for innovation and sustainability in a changing and competitive labor market" (p.265). One example of a topic for workplace learning provided by a participant was Excel software, a practical skill that is important in their workplace. The participant stated that most of their coworkers struggled to use it correctly. According to Uncles, (2018), Excel proficiency, as well as other software program proficiencies are practical skills, and meeting the educational demand of the workforce is in tune with meeting "the expectations of major stakeholders who are looking for the realization of social benefits" (p.188). Rural community colleges have the responsibility to "anticipate and respond to the evolving, and often niche, workforce needs of the companies that support regional

economies" by "partnering with workforce organizations, adult basic-education, and a variety of other community-based organizations to provide adults and non-traditional learners with supportive, streamlined, educational pathways toward family-sustaining jobs" (Buckwalter & Togila, 2019, p.2).

Services offered. It has become a common practice around the world for higher education institutions to explore "new strategies to improve the quality and strengthen their potential to offer greater value to both institution and the communities in which they engage" (Holland & Malone, 2019, p.1). Unfortunately, my research findings indicated that the community college study site is lacking in offering services to the community, as only one participant was able to provide an example of a service offered to the community by the college: a lunch program for senior citizens on the main campus of the college. It has long been recognized that university-community engagement and collaboration is an important role for institutions of higher education, "and more important, and more impactful, when such engagement occurs in regional settings; between regional communities and universities with regional campuses" (Murphy & McGrath, 2018, p.321). Additionally, developing community services that allow for the sharing of limited resources and student collaboration, leads to "the creation of strong, functional, long-term relationships within a community or government directly and immediately provides visible and tangible benefits to the citizens" (Shelton, 2019, p.62). The lack of existing community services provided by the college not only provides an opportunity for the college to improve its relationship with its community, but also in achieving one of higher education's important goals, "for students to learn to be

responsible civic participants" (Li & Frieze, 2016, p.775).

Community presence. Another issue that presented itself during the participants' interviews was the common perception that the community college does not have a significant presence at various community and civic group events. One key concern as conveyed by research participants, was that the community college sends representatives to participate in local parades, county fairs, and events sponsored by Job and Family Services, but their presence at civic or political organizations is limited. Participants also stated that the community college does not have a significant presence in the local high schools as compared to other colleges located outside of the four-county community college service area.

The community college's presence at events sponsored by Job and Family

Services was presented as an area of contention by a few research participants. The

perception was that the community college was targeting the "welfare" population, but

not the general population, contributing to opinions that the college was not a good

option for the working class. To contextualize this issue, the community college is

located in a socioeconomically depressed region of Appalachia, with high poverty and

unemployment rates. According to national data, the percentage of students from lowincome households enrolling in college has been increasing over the past several decades

(United States Government Accountability Office, 2018). While participants seemed

offended by the community college's attentive nature to the "welfare" population, by

almost every sociological measure "college has been shown to provide economic and

social advantage" (Mannon, 2018, p.280) to those completing a college education. There

was also a common perception that government aid recipients were using college enrollment as a means to "get a check" with no intention of completing a degree or seeking gainful employment. However, while the "blame for the low success rates of the welfare-to-work population is placed squarely on the welfare-to-work participants themselves" (Pizzolato & Olson, 2016, p. 572), community colleges are charged with the goal of addressing adult education and literacy, helping residents transition from public welfare to self-sufficiency (Iowa Department of Education, 2016). To address current insufficiencies in the transition, innovative strategies should be employed to "create pathways and provide integrated services to improve students' academic, employment, and financial stability in the short-term, while laying a foundation for long-term economic success" (Sullivan, Price, Fox, & Person, 2018, p.1).

One method suggested by participants to offset the community college's "welfare targeting" and improve community relations would be to increase the college's presence in the local high schools. Research has found that community colleges serve a large percentage of at-risk students, and in terms of the high school graduate, these students may be from low-income families, potentially first-generation college students, and may require remedial coursework in English and math (Page et al., 2019). To help address potential barriers, high school administrators are strongly encouraged to implement best practices that include "encouraging academic achievement, building students' college aspirations, informing students of college options, helping students with the admission and financial aid processes, and providing access to college counseling" (Duncheon & DeMatthews, 2019, p.270). Current research supports that "student's college-related

social capital is enhanced through social relations with college admissions offices and college tours" (Clayton, 2019, p.1423). To augment the development of a college-going culture, community college leaders should host "community conversations with K-12 school districts to develop a common understanding of college readiness and success" (American Association of Community Colleges & Association of Community College Trustees, 2018).

Success stories. Many study participants suggested that the community college publish student success stories. Participants believed that by sharing success stories, the college could promote positive outcomes and improve the college's reputation in the community. Additionally, it was also suggested that sharing success stories could provide much needed encouragement to the underserved student considering a college education. In current college marketing research, the use of success stories has proven effective in recruiting and retaining students and are considered a cost-effective marketing tool for colleges with limited resources (Talarico, 2017). Additionally, research conducted by Martin and Martin (2018) indicated that the use of success stories was especially meaningful to students when stories "featured people with whom they shared a common background or people or places that they could relate to on a personal level" (p.21). According to Polkinghorne, Roushan, and Taylor (2017), "the future marketing of higher education will therefore be dependent on the ability of individual institutions to demonstrate levels of teaching excellence delivered to past and existing students" (p.214).

Program offerings. Study participants discussed the need for more local

educational programs of study that were marketable and would translate into gainful employment. Participants stated that aside from the community college's allied health and manufacturing technology programs, the college's program offerings were outdated. Per the study participants, the increase in relevant and marketable programs could address local workforce needs, appeal to the community's non-traditional or underserved students, and provide an incentive to local high school students to attend college close to home

The mission of community colleges has always included an emphasis on occupational education and training, however, in today's highly technological world, the workforce demand for graduates with competitive technical skills has challenged community colleges to update programs of study, offer new marketable programs of study, and deliver curriculum to prepare students for today's workforce (Jacoby, 2019). Additionally, students are steering away from a more traditional liberal arts education, "seeking direct financial, rather than broader experiential benefits from their educational pursuits" (Hoskins & Brown, 2017, p.188). The increased competitive nature that exists in today's higher education industry, has led higher education institutions to "increase their market share by expanding and diversifying their offerings and their scope of their recruitment to attract and serve new subgroups that have not been tapped" (Pucciarelli & Kaplan, 2016, p. 316). Recommendations for college leaders include an emphasis on ensuring that new curriculum is developed that emphasizes the training and development of knowledge and interdisciplinary knowledge, and the formation and development of

professional competencies, to augment student personal and professional success (Tudor, 2017).

Better marketing. The research findings identified a significant need for the community college to develop a marketing plan and aggressively market the community college. In addition to participants knowing very little about the programs that the college offered, they identified other key characteristics of the community college that were not well known, such as residential housing options on the college's main campus and the existence of numerous collegiate sports. Participants demonstrated an eagerness to learn about program outcomes, graduation rates, and job placement rates, especially in comparison to competing area colleges. Research findings also suggest that the community college needs to evaluate its brand and consider rebranding as a mechanism for improving institutional viability (Dholakia, 2017; Erdogmus & Ergun, 2016).

According to Li, Granizo, and Gardo (2016), institutions of higher education "have become a highly competitive market, where consumers (i.e. students) are highly involved in their choices, and managers need to focus on competitive edges" (p.855). While branding of higher education institutions has been met with resistance from academics, marketing and branding strategies are becoming more commonplace in higher education due to the increasingly competitive world, with those institutions engaging in internal brand management experiencing greater financial success (Dholakia, 2017). The successes of institutions of higher education attributed to branding has resulted in branding being "increasingly used as a mechanism of differentiation among competitors to attract prospective students" (Stephenson, Heckert, & Yerger, 2016, p. 489).

According to Erdogmus and Ergun (2016), "branding has become an important tool to leverage a university's position in the market, increase number of student applications, step up its position in rankings, improve graduate career prospects, or gain institutional support of the authorities" (p.141).

In light of current trends in higher education that include decreasing enrollments, decreasing retention rates, and increasing competition for students, colleges are encouraged to take "a services approach to marketing higher education" (Cao, Foster, Yaoyuneyong, & Krey, 2019, p. 134). A few marketing strategies suggested by current research include the use of slogans, engaging stakeholders through social media, and utilizing alumni to target various stakeholders by sharing their experiences. Colleges are encouraged to develop slogans as part of their marketing plan because slogans "usually target all college stakeholders without differentiation, even though these stakeholders may have quite different connections to the organization" (Kovalenko, 2019, p.653). In addition to utilizing slogans, social media marketing can be a valuable tool for higher education institutions as it can target multiple stakeholders, not just current students (Brech, Messer, Vander Schee, Rauschnabel, & Ivens, 2017). Through the strategic use of social media, colleges have the opportunity to "amplify psychological engagement with students and to increase influence impressions by following student(s)-to-student(s) conversations and stories" (Bolat & O'Sullivan, 2017, p.742). According to Fujita, Harrigan, and Soutar (2017), "given the communal and altruistic nature of universities and because students are often at the forefront of the social media phenomenon, social media brand communities provide a significant relationship marketing opportunity for

higher education institutions" (p.149). Additionally, the development of alumni relations should be an important component of college marketing plans as "students' loyalty to their university is a multiphase concept that stretches from enrollment to graduation and beyond" (Koenig-Lewis, 2016, p.59).

Knowledge of the Levy

The lack of knowledge of the community college's levy proposition was presented as a major issue with the study participants. The levy proposition was described as being poorly communicated, with vague information presented to the public. The lack of information and poor communication contributed to feelings of distrust about the administrative practices of the college leadership and the intentions of the proposed levy.

Levy knowledge. The general consensus of the research participants was that most community members did not have enough information about the levy proposal to make an educated decision at the polls. Research findings indicate that community members did not know the purpose of the levy, what the increase in funds would finance, the terms of the levy, or how supporting the levy would benefit the community. Current research of K-12 school levy failures indicates that the most significant reason that school levy propositions fail is a lack of communication between school systems and the voters (Rominiak, 2018). According to Braidwood (2016), "propositions providing more information to voters increases the likelihood of support for those measures" (p.29). Additionally, in today's election environment, providing high-quality, ongoing and targeted communication throughout the year is imperative to a successful school levy campaign (Lifto & Nichol, 2019). To enhance communication with the public, and

increase the potential for levy success, Holt (2017) recommended that the school administration should form a levy support group, made up of local citizens with differing demographics, to disseminate accurate information; utilize multiple forms of media advertising to reach stakeholders; and utilize door-to-door personal campaigning tactics.

Poor communication. In addition to a lack of communication about the proposed tax levy, research findings also suggest that the community college does not consistently communicate with the residents of the community it serves. Participants conveyed a desire to know more about the community college events and activities. Participants felt that if the college included its community more, the community may be more likely to support college initiatives, including a future tax levy. According to Gavazzi (2018), "higher education leaders should take co-responsibility for engaging their host communities, especially before major problems arise" (p.8). Based on recent research, to gain greater community support, colleges should "engage in volunteer activities that increase visibility in the community, hold more events on campus, and generate more publicity about campus news and events" (Gavazzi, 2015).

Distrust. Research findings suggest that due to the lack of information made available to community members regarding the tax levy proposal, community members did not trust that the funding generated by the tax levy would be used appropriately. Research participants described the lack of information and transparency as contributing to community distrust of the community college administration and the intentions of the levy. According to Lindgren (2018), political pledges and propositions should be well articulated so that voters can easily grasp their intentions. Recent social psychology

research supports that even "very modest alterations in how a decision is described or structured can have outsized effects on the choices that people make" (Gerber, Huber, Biggers, & Hendry, 2016, p.7112). Improving communication with community members through multiple channels, including social media, can contribute to the feeling of membership in the college community, and the development of loyalty and trust (Nevzat, Amca, Tanova, & Amca, 2016).

Levy Prioritization

Research findings describe the community college replacement tax levy proposal as being poorly communicated to the community members, which contributed to a lack of prioritization by voters when compared to competing levy propositions. Participants recommended that a future levy campaign should provide comprehensive information about the levy purpose and the community college's plans how the generated money would be used. Additionally, participants discussed the timing of the vote and made recommendations for the timing of a future tax levy that may have implications for a more successful future campaign.

Competing levies. Participants described their November 2017 ballot as having multiple levy propositions for their consideration. The primary concern, based on research findings, was that community members have limited financial resources, and the decision to support a levy is based on their personal finances and a levy proposal's demonstration of direct benefit to the taxpayer. Current research has shown that taxpayers are more likely to support tax levies that are earmarked, specifically those that support emergency services such as police, fire protection, or emergency medical services

(Martin, Lopez, & Olsen, 2019). Furthermore, when multiple levies are on a ballot, decisions are often made in sequential order, which may contribute to choice fatigue, when the act of decision making becomes exhaustive to the voter and may contribute to abstention in voting on propositions (Augenblick & Nicholson, 2016). However, Matsusaka (2016), proposed that in terms of taxation proposals, choice fatigue may not be as relevant as the likelihood that voters "have a target budget in mind and will only tax themselves (or approve spending) until that target budget is depleted" (p.274).

Poor communication. Research findings suggest that the community did not have enough information about the levy proposal to feel comfortable about supporting it. Improved communication can assist in taxpayer prioritization of levy proposals as the dissemination of information about a proposal can increase "certainty about the consequences of a proposition" (Stutzer, Baltensperger, & Meier, 2018, p.1). According to Alvord and Rauscher (2019), while there may be a number of reasons why voters are not aware of local ballot issues, information and perceptions have importance in how voters choose to support propositions. In addition to needing more information about the proposal prior to the election, study participants conveyed the need for better wording on the ballot. Recent research suggests that the quantity and type of information presented on the ballot may influence voting behavior, with shorter more concise ballot statements gaining more support (Kreye, Adams, & Kline, 2019).

Timing. Research findings of this study regarding the timing of a future tax levy proposal suggested that placing a future tax levy proposal on the May Primary, or conducting a special election, as opposed to the November Election Day, could contribute

to a more favorable outcome. While extensive research exists on the timing of elections and the potential impact on outcomes, the consequences of timing are not straightforward because as turnout changes, voter characteristics such as partisanship, ideology, demographics, and occupational background also change" (Kogan, Lavertu, & Peskowitz, 2018, p.638). However, "off-cycle elections were designed to increase the influence of informed voters in local elections" (Benedictis-Kessner, 2017, p.120). According to Holt (2017), one strategy that has proven critical to the success of school levy campaigns and could be invaluable in strategically timed campaigns, is the use of citizen support groups that are charged with the primary responsibility of informing and educating the public.

Conclusion

The demonstration of value to the community served by a community college can be improved in a multitude of ways including community outreach, an increased presence in the community, and by offering more services to the population served. Community college recruitment and retention efforts can be improved by offering more marketable and relevant programs of study, sharing student and graduate success stories, and by implementing a strategic marketing plan that targets all stakeholders. To improve the success of a levy campaign, college administration needs to plan a campaign that emphasizes communication with the community to enhance knowledge of the purpose of the levy and decrease community distrust. While the different timing strategies of levy campaigns have both pros and cons, community college leaders can weaken the impact of

competing levies on the ballot through concise ballot wording that clearly explains the levy proposal and implications.

Project Description

After conducting the literature review specific to my study findings, I have written a white paper (Appendix A) to be presented to the community college administration and board of trustees. My white paper explains the background and rationale of my study, key points from my literature review, an explanation of the study population and sample size, and descriptions of the data collection method and analysis. The white paper also describes the main findings of my research, recommendations to address the findings, and a description of the potential implications of my research.

Resources Needed and Existing Supports

The resources needed for this white paper project are minimal. The white paper will be shared with college leaders by email. To share my white paper with the college leaders, I will need internet access and access to the college leaders' institution-specific email addresses. After the white paper has been distributed to the college leaders, I will need access to different communication methods for answering their questions or having discussions regarding the study's findings. The different communication methods that I may need access to include Microsoft Teams, Skype, email, and the telephone.

The supports needed for the execution of this project are already in place. I have access to reliable internet service daily, both at my home and in my personal office at the community college. I currently have access to the community college administrators' institutional email addresses as a current faculty member of the college with an

institutional email account. To send the white paper by email to the community college's board members, I am required to submit my email to a specific administrative assistant at the college who will then forward the email to the board members. The process of submitting an email to the administrative assistant for dissemination to board members is an established practice at the college. For answering any questions that the college leaders may have, or for facilitating further discussion of the research findings, the required technologies are already available and in place. As a current faculty member at the community college, I have Microsoft Teams and Skype subscriptions provided by the community college on my personal laptop and on my personal computer located in my personal campus office. Additionally, for telephone conversations, I have a personal cellphone, a landline at home, and a landline in my personal office on campus.

Potential Barriers and Potential Solutions

While I originally planned to present my white paper to college administrators and board members at a community college board of trustees meeting, I have encountered a barrier. Due to the coronavirus pandemic, the board of trustee meetings are no longer an option due to social distancing precautions that have been put into place by government leaders and college leaders at the study site. To address this barrier, I will send a copy of my white paper to all college leaders and board members by email as soon as I have approval from Walden University. Included in the email, I will offer to present my white paper at a future meeting, either in person or by virtual technology, such as Skype or Microsoft Teams. Additionally, in the email, I will invite questions and feedback via Skype, Microsoft Teams, telephone or email.

Timeline for Implementation

The findings of this research study, and an exhaustive review of the current literature and research, contributed to the development of my recommendations. The goals of my recommendations are to provide research-based guidance for improving the community college's relationship with the community it serves, and for planning for a more successful future levy campaign. The majority of the recommendations involve the creation of initiatives or the development of programs that would need to be put into action six months to one year before another replacement tax levy was proposed. In the following sections, I describe the recommendations and recommended timelines for implementation.

Student success stories. The recommendation to publish local student success stories is based on the study's findings that student success stories are valued by community members. To implement this recommendation, college leaders would need to direct a plan for collecting and publishing student success stories. While the collection of success stories may fall under the marketing department's responsibility; students, graduates, and faculty will play a vital role in providing these stories for consideration. While future published student success stories may contribute to more successful marketing and community support of the college, the use of the success stories as a campaign tool for a future replacement tax levy would need to be implemented at least six months prior to the future election. The six-month time period would allow for dissemination of the success stories through multiple channels including social media, institutional marketing materials, and the institution's website. Therefore, this initiative

would need to be started at least nine months prior to the election to allow for story collection, publication, and dissemination to the public.

Summer programs for local youth. The recommendation for the community college to offer summer programs for the local youth is based on the study findings. Participants recommended that the community college offer summer programs to children of the four-county district to provide educational opportunities to the local youth. The summer programs, per the research findings, could be perceived as a value to the community, potentially affecting how community members would vote on a future levy proposal.

Because this initiative would occur in the summer months, the program would have to be offered the summer before the future levy proposal vote. If college leaders chose to place the replacement tax levy proposal on the May Primary ballot, the program would need to occur the summer of the prior year. In addition to running the program the prior year, the college would need to be advertising for the current year's summer program, even though it would occur after the election. If the levy proposal was put on the November Election Day ballot, the program would have to be offered, at minimum, the summer leading up to the election. By offering the program at least once before the levy vote, and advertising for another session to occur after the levy vote, the community members' support of the levy proposal may be augmented, especially by those community members with school-age children. The college's increase in providing services to the community it serves, and the demonstration of consistency may have positive implications on a future levy campaign.

Enrichment courses. The research conducted for this study found that community members were interested in taking enrichment courses through the community college. Research findings suggested that community members may be more willing to support a future replacement tax levy if they could personally benefit from services offered by the college. To realize a potential positive contribution to a more successful future levy campaign, enrichment courses would need to be offered to the community throughout the academic year leading up to the election.

Community services and outreach. The research findings suggest that the community college needs to increase the number of services offered to the community, as well as conducting more community outreach to improve community support. Research participants specifically mentioned the need for the college to provide more services and outreach to the senior citizens and youth of the four-county service area. To provide community services and outreach that may be considered valuable to the community members, the college would need to conduct research. Additionally, the research may help in the college leaders' decisions in determining what services and outreach measures are feasible for the college to offer. To realize the potential benefits of this initiative in planning for a more successful future levy campaign, the community services and outreach would need to be started six months to a year before the levy election. Research, planning, and implementation of the community services and outreach would need to be conducted 12 to 18 months before the levy election.

Improve programs of study options. A consistent theme that emerged from the research findings was the need for the community college to improve their academic

program offerings. Community members conveyed the need for local programs of study that are more reflective of the community's needs and interests. To improve program offerings, the college would need to conduct assessments and feasibility studies of the local industry needs to determine which programs would be the most beneficial in terms of local industry demand.

There are many steps involved in offering new programs of study that are time intensive, for example, creation of the program and accreditation approvals. Since the process is lengthy, my recommendation would be to start this process as soon as possible. At the minimum, the programs would need to be in place and accepting students at the start of the academic year that precedes the future levy campaign and election.

Improve and increase marketing. Research findings suggest that community members do not know very much about the community college, the academic programs it offers, what services it provides, or what events happen on campus. Community members conveyed a desire to know more about the college and recommended that the college improve and increase marketing of all things related to the college. Community members believed that by improving the college's marketing strategy, or by re-branding the institution, more community members would be aware of what the college contributes to its community served.

Re-branding the community college, or improving the marketing strategy of the community college, would need to be initiated by the leaders of the college as soon as possible. While the re-branding, or improved marketing, may contribute to a more successful future levy campaign, it may also be beneficial to the struggling community

college in terms of improved student enrollment rates. In terms of a future levy campaign, this initiative would need to be in place approximately one year before the levy election. Due to the research and planning involved in re-branding and developing a new marketing strategy, to contribute to a more successful future levy campaign, this initiative would need to be started approximately 18 months prior to the levy election.

Increase presence in local high schools. Research findings suggested that the community college does not have a strong presence in the high schools that are located in the four-county district of the community college. Research participants felt that this perceived lack of presence not only contributed to the 2017 levy failure, but also to the declining student enrollment at the community college. Research findings suggest that many local potential students, or their parents, do not know enough about the community college, its programs of study, or how to pursue a college education.

This initiative could be implemented quickly by the community college by coordinating outreach with the local high schools. Some examples of outreach could include college professors guest speaking in high school classes, providing more program-specific marketing materials, providing assistance to students and parents for FAFSA completions, and inviting students to events on campus. In terms of improving student enrollments, the community college should consider implementing this initiative as soon as possible. For potential future levy implications, this initiative needs to be in place and operational at least six months before the next levy election.

Representation at community meetings. The research findings also suggest that the community college needs a greater presence at community and political organization

meetings throughout the four-county district. This initiative would be one of the easier ones to implement of the recommendations. Since the lack of representation at local meetings was significant to participants, this initiative should be implemented as soon as possible. In terms of a future replacement tax levy campaign, this initiative would need to be implemented at least six months prior to the future tax levy election.

Campaigning for a future levy. The most significant finding of this research study was that community members did not know enough about the replacement tax levy proposal to make an informed decision. The research findings also indicated that the lack of information available about the levy proposal also contributed to community members' distrust in the proposed levy. To address these issues, in the event of a future tax levy proposal, the community college leaders need to execute a more informative and transparent campaign. The community college should begin a campaign that is both informative and transparent nine months to one year before the election.

My Roles and Responsibilities

As the author of the white paper, it will be my responsibility to share my white paper with college leaders and board members. It is also my responsibility to respond to any feedback or questions that may arise once my white paper has been distributed.

Additionally, it will be my responsibility to participate in future meetings for the planning of initiatives, if asked by college leadership, that have direct ties to my research findings.

Project Evaluation Plan

Outcomes-based Evaluation

In the event that the community college attempts another replacement tax levy, the findings of my research and the resulting recommendations will be evaluated.

Utilizing an outcomes-based evaluation, the recommendations of this study can be assessed in terms of the effectiveness of the study's recommendations in planning for a more successful future levy campaign. In this section, I describe the method for evaluating the recommendations that were developed based on the research findings.

Justification for Outcomes-based Evaluation

Outcomes-based evaluation is a "systemic way of assessing the extent to which a program has achieved its intended result" (New York State Library, 2017). In higher education, outcomes-based evaluation is a process that can be used for "collecting information that will tell the college whether the services, activities, or experiences it offers are having the desired impact" (San Diego Mesa College, 2017). An outcomes-based evaluation is an appropriate method of assessing this project because of its proven usefulness in "aggregating individual measures for the purpose of discovering group strengths and weaknesses that can guide improvement actions" (Banta & Palomba, 2015, p.1). The ultimate assessment for this study would be the results of a future levy campaign, if the recommendations of this study were implemented. However, to accurately assess this study's impact on a future tax levy campaign, I will need to conduct an evaluation following the election, based on the following questions: Did the community college increase marketing to the community, including student success

stories? Did the college create marketing initiatives to strengthen their existing brand or did they implement a re-branding strategy? Did the college create and offer any summer programs for local youth? Did the college add enrichment courses to their offerings at all campus locations? Did the college increase community services and outreach efforts specifically to senior citizens and children? Did the college update their program offerings in response to local industry demands? Was a free "Introduction to College" course offered to the public? Did the college increase its presence in the local high schools? Did the college increase representation at community organization and community political meetings in all four counties? Did the college increase their communication with the public, improving transparency, regarding the tax levy proposal?

The evaluation of the outcomes can be conducted through communication with the key departments on the college's campus, including admissions and marketing.

Additionally, assessment of the college's presence in the local high schools can be achieved through communication with the administration and guidance counselors of the local high schools. In communicating with local high schools and departments of the college, I will ask for evidence of these activities. The evidence can be presented in narrative form by staff or administrators, or through documentation of activities (website announcements, newspaper articles, etc.).

Overall Goal and Stakeholders

This section provides a description of the overall goal of the project in relation to stakeholders of the project.

Overall goal. The overall goal of this project is to provide the community college

administrators and board of trustees with direct feedback from the community it serves to improve community relations, improve institutional viability, and contribute to a more successful future levy campaign. The goal of the evaluation plan is to determine what recommendations were implemented, if the implemented recommendations were effective, and to determine how the recommendations affected the future replacement tax levy campaign outcome.

Stakeholders. There are multiple stakeholders that may realize a benefit from the findings and recommendations of this study. The stakeholders of this study and its resultant project include current students at the community college, potential community college students, the local community, local businesses, community college faculty and staff, community college administration and board of trustees, and the community college itself. The following section provides a description of each stakeholder and the potential for positive social change.

Students as stakeholders. Current and potential students may benefit from the findings and recommendations of this study. The current student body is made up of both traditional and non-traditional students. While the current student body is predominantly made up of commuting students, a portion of students are residential and live in the dormitories on the main campus. Potential students include adult students and current high school students. The potential benefits to current and potential students may include improved programs of study choices, improved student support services, improved financial support of programs, campus technology, and the physical campus, in addition to an improved connection with the community.

The local community as a stakeholder. The community college district is comprised of four counties in rural Appalachia, with a physical campus or branch campus operating in each county. The community college's community is comprised of residents living in the multiple villages, towns, and rural areas within the four counties. The community member composition includes farmers, local industry employees, K-12 students, college students, retirees, unemployed residents, and government assistance recipients. The local community may benefit from the findings and recommendations of this study through increased community services and outreach, summer programs for local youth, and a strengthened community college better able to serve educational and career needs of its local residents.

Local businesses as stakeholders. The community college's four-county service area is home to numerous types of businesses and industry. Types of business and industry present in the community include farming, timber harvesting, manufacturing, electric generation plants, health care, grocery/retail supply chains, restaurants, state parks and forestry services, and trucking. The four-county district is also home to numerous grade schools, middle schools, and high schools. Local businesses and industry may benefit from the study's findings and recommendations through new programs of study and new community services. New programs of study may better prepare graduates in addressing the needs of local employers when hiring new employees. A community service recommended by this study was offering workplace training or "Lunch and Learns". This community service may benefit local business and industry by providing an opportunity for employees to receive occupational training while on the job.

Community college faculty and staff as stakeholders. As stakeholders, the community college faculty and staff can be described in terms of current employees and potential future employees. The current faculty and staff can be described as a heterogenous composition of members that are native to the area and members that moved to the area for employment. Many of the employees have substantial years of service with the institution. The college's increasing financial strain has resulted in a lack of salary raises for several years, and significant increases of out of pocket expenses for health insurance, for the employees. Resources for conference attendance and professional development have been scarce. Additionally, faculty members have had to deliver courses and programs with shrinking budgets, limiting their abilities to stay competitive with other colleges.

For current employees, the study's findings and recommendations may contribute to more secure and stable employment through improved finances generated by a future successful levy campaign. Current faculty members may realize increased financial support of their programs leading to improved classroom technology and educational resources. With an improvement in finances, current faculty members may have an increased opportunity to attend conferences and continuing education events.

Additionally, an improvement in the fiscal status of the college may allow for employee pay increases and an improved benefits package.

In the future, potential employees may be attracted to the community college as a potential employer as a result of improved finances. The passage of a future replacement tax levy may allow the college to offer better benefits and competitive salaries. The

opportunity to teach in programs that are adequately funded and supported may prove significant in the faculty recruitment process. Additionally, the community college's ability to demonstrate professional development support to prospective employees may also prove conducive to the recruiting process.

College administration and board members as stakeholders. The community college administration is comprised of multiple members from many different backgrounds. The composition includes members with prior experience as professors at the institution, to members that were recruited by the institution to serve in leadership positions. The board of trustees consists of members that were appointed by the county commissioners of the four-county district. The board of trustee members must live within the four-county community college district. The board is comprised of local business and industry leaders, as well as members with leadership roles in community services.

The past decade has been rife with financial troubles that has led to the community college administrators and board members making difficult budgetary and staffing decisions. The improved finances and community support that may be realized with the implementation of the recommendations of this study, may have significant implications for the college leaders. College administration and board members may be able to make better decisions for the college if finances improve. College leaders may find their roles to be more rewarding and less stressful if resources are not as scarce.

The community college as a stakeholder. The community college is a small college located in rural Appalachia that has a main campus and three branch campuses. The student body of the community college consists primarily of commuters; however,

the community college's main campus does offer residential housing. The community college has numerous programs of study including, but not limited to, nursing, diagnostic medical sonography, radiology technology, welding, manufacturing technology, psychology, social work, business management, and communications. The community college's on-site partnership with a private university allows for seamless transfer of community college students into the private university after associate degree completion. This partnership allows students to complete bachelor's degrees in programs such as teacher education, psychology, social work, business administration, and nursing.

The community college is perhaps the most significant stakeholder in this research study. Every recommendation made based on the research findings has potential implications for improving the community college's relationship with its community and contributing to a more successful future levy campaign. By implementing initiatives that lead to improving the support of current students and attracting future students, the community college may realize a growth in enrollment that will generate additional tuition revenue. Through the creation of initiatives for increasing community services and outreach, the college may gain additional voter support in a future levy campaign which may contribute to better financial stability of the institution. By improving support of local business and industry through more relevant college programming, and by offering workforce development opportunities, the college may strengthen these relationships. A strengthening of relations with local industry and business may provide more opportunities for mutually beneficial college-community engagement and partnerships. Improvements made to the college's finances may lead to the retention of current

employees through improved salary and benefits, thus reducing the expenses associated with job turnover. Additionally, the potential improved finances may contribute to a more favorable institutional reputation, which may improve the recruitment of future employees. Finally, the potential increase in available funding and resources may allow college leaders to make administrative decisions that will support the future growth, stability, and longevity of the institution.

Project Implications

Implications of the project are presented in terms of general social change, local stakeholders, and in the larger context of higher education.

Social Change Summary

Improving the community college's relationship with its community served through the implementation of the recommendations may contribute to improved stability and viability of the college. By improving the community members' perception of the college, the institution may realize increased community support in a future levy campaign. A more successful future levy campaign may provide the institution with the additional financial support to improve its financial viability.

Improving community relations in general, may lead to an increase in future local student enrollment, which may contribute to the financial viability of the college through additional tuition generation. Local businesses and industry may benefit from this study through a potential increase in qualified job applicants and with new opportunities to provide workplace training and education. Current and future students may realize the benefits of an increase in institutional viability through improved students support

services, the availability of new programs of study, improved campus technology, and better financial support of courses and programs. The community may benefit from new services and outreach which may foster an improved relationship with the college and the community it serves.

Local Stakeholders

In terms of a more successful tax replacement levy, the additional funds secured by a future successful replacement levy may have positive social change implications for multiple institutional stakeholders at the local level including; students, student dependents, faculty, board of trustee members, college administration, community businesses, employers of future graduates, and the study site in terms of its institutional viability. The additional funding that a successful replacement levy would contribute may allow for maintaining operations at the study site, basic investments such as improvements in technology and the physical campus, and the funding of faculty and staff vacancies. The improved financial support of the institution may translate into improved student outcomes, including degree completion and improved employment opportunities. Improved student outcomes may translate into positive changes in the local economy, a decrease in local governmental assistance for individuals and families, and a stronger community college better equipped to meet the needs of its community served (Levin & Garcia, 2018).

Larger Context

In a larger context, in a broader sense, I believe that this white paper project will provide useful information to college leaders across the country that are seeking more

community support of their respective colleges and universities. Although the intention of this research study was to gain a better understanding of the levy failure, the research findings suggested that the levy failure was a result of a greater problem. The greater problem being the community college is not connected with its community served.

Therefore, this white paper project may also be helpful to other colleges and universities that are not necessarily trying to pass a levy but are interested in improving town and gown relationships. The larger applicability of this white paper is supported by the review of current literature that I conducted that confirms that the challenges faced by the local community college, are not unique challenges, but common across the country. In a narrower sense, I believe this white paper will provide useful information for other community colleges that are considering a tax levy proposal. While my review of the literature indicates that passing a school levy can be a daunting task, my recommendations based on community member interviews, may provide useful strategic considerations for planning for a more successful levy campaign.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, to better understand the levy failure. Based on the 12 personal interviews that I conducted, community members are tired of paying additional property taxes that levies generate, especially for levies that do not provide a clear and direct benefit to the taxpayer. Community members either did not know about the levy, or if they did, they did not understand the levy. Community members knew too little about the community college and its offerings and felt that the study site maintained a "quiet" presence in the community. Multiple community members discussed the benefits of having a more active community college in the local community. Those benefits included close-to-home options for their children and non-traditional students, economic benefits from better education opportunities close to home, and opportunities for economic growth of the community. Although those perceived benefits were acknowledged, the benefits were overshadowed by the community members' limited knowledge of the community college, and the services that it provides. The limited knowledge that the community possessed about the study site resulted in a lack of priority in comparison to competing levies. Community members felt that the timing of the levy was wrong with multiple competing levies on the ballot, especially in one county where another controversial levy garnered a lot of attention. Community members felt that placing the levy on the May Primary, as opposed to the November Election Day, or holding a special election may have proven to be more successful. While community members do not feel

that putting the replacement tax levy on the ballot again in the near future would have a different outcome, they did state that with actual improvements made by the study site in programming, community services, and a significant increase in information dissemination, a replacement tax levy campaign in a few years, could prove more successful.

I used the research findings of this study to write a white paper to be presented to the community college's administration and board of trustees. The white paper includes a summary of my research findings, a summary of the current literature that provided support to those findings, and my recommendations for strengthening community support of the community college and for planning for a more successful future levy campaign based on current research and suggestions made by the research participants. In this section, I describe the project's strengths and limitations, make recommendations for alternative approaches, discuss my learning through the doctoral study process, discuss my personal growth as a scholar, describe the potential for positive social change, and make recommendations for future research.

Project Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this project include research findings that were achieved by collecting data and conducting research by adhering to the conceptual framework that grounded this study, the development of a white paper that connected research findings to straightforward recommendations, and the ability to provide the community college leaders with relevant feedback from the community for decision making. The limitations of this study include that my opportunity to present my white paper in person at the

community college's board of trustees meeting has been affected by the coronavirus pandemic, and that my project's evaluation plan is dependent on a future levy campaign that has not been planned thus far.

Strengths

One strength of this research study was the use of Lewin's forcefield analysis as the conceptual framework to ground this study and guide the research, data collection, and white paper recommendations. According to Bjursell and Engstrom (2019), this theory has proven useful in finding "solutions for societal and economic problems that are too complex to be tackled within one sector alone" (p.129). The conceptual framework provided me with the tools and guidance for developing and conducting a research study that allowed for the identification of the positive and negative forces that may have contributed to the levy failure. Additionally, the conceptual framework provided the basis for determining recommendations that may strengthen the positive forces and weaken the negative forces that were extracted from the research findings.

A second strength of this project is the white paper project that connected my research findings with recommendations. The recommendations provided in the white paper are for improving the community college's relationship with the community it serves, as well as for planning for a more successful future levy campaign. The white paper as the delivered project is in alignment with the conceptual framework of the study, as well as the goals of the study, since they are commonly used to "discuss challenges and issues faced in the industry and provide solutions on how to overcome them" (Corporate Finance Institute, 2020).

The third strength of this project may be the greatest strength. Before I conducted my research for this study, there had not been any research conducted on the November 2017 levy failure. While college leaders and college employees had opinions about the levy failure, there was no funding available in the budget for conducting follow-up research. This project study has allowed me to provide the college leaders with research findings for decision making in regard to a future levy campaign and strengthening relations with the community served. This is a crucial strength as research has an important role in education policy and practice, with the potential for addressing equity and positive social change (Bourke & Loveridge, 2017).

Limitations

There are two limitations of my project study. First, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, state governance has implemented a social distancing order. Additionally, in response to this order, college leaders have mandated that all college business and instruction is to be conducted remotely until further notice. These orders have eliminated the opportunity for me to present my white paper at a board of trustees meeting. While this limitation is unfortunate, available technology will provide an opportunity to share my findings remotely through email, Skype, or Microsoft Teams. While I would have preferred to present my findings in person, the use of media and videoconferencing has been proven to be an appropriate substitute (Orngreen, Gnaur, & Henningsen, 2019).

The second limitation of my project study is that a future replacement tax levy proposal has yet to be planned. The ability to evaluate my delivered project is dependent on another levy campaign and subsequent election. While this is a limitation, the

recommendations of this project not only provide suggestions for planning for a more successful future levy campaign, but also for strengthening community relations. Even without a future levy campaign and election, this project is in alignment with research that aims to explore new methods for improving the quality and value of services that colleges offer to their students and the communities in which they serve (Holland & Malone, 2019).

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The problem that prompted this study was the failure of the community college's replacement tax levy that left college leaders with a lack of understanding as to why the levy failed. An alternative definition of the problem could have been based on the feasibility study that was conducted by an external consultant agency. The feasibility study indicated that with minimal campaigning, the levy should pass. Taking this alternative approach, the study could have focused on the implications of the feasibility study's data and information in the college leaders' campaign planning. Had the feasibility study not been conducted; would the college leaders have employed stronger campaign tactics? Would the execution of a stronger campaign have led to a different election outcome? Did the feasibility study ultimately set the replacement levy campaign up for failure?

I chose to conduct qualitative research on the levy failure by interviewing community members about their perceptions about the way community members voted on the tax levy proposal, as opposed to conducting other types of research, because I was seeking thick and rich descriptions of the community members perceptions. Alternative

approaches that could have been used for researching the levy failure could have included conducting quantitative research by surveying community members directly or by conducting a case study.

The use of a survey allows researchers to collect original data from a population that is too large to observe directly (Babbie, 2017). The survey could be dispersed to a larger number of community members than what is feasible in conducting personal interviews. A survey approach for research about the levy failure could consist of direct questions about the college's marketing, community engagement, services offered, programs of study, and communication with the community served. The use of a quantitative survey could provide a larger sample size for gathering feedback from the local community to be used in the creation of community college initiatives.

A case study approach can be used to study things such as a program, a phenomenon, a community, or an institution; and involves collecting in-depth data from multiple sources (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A case study approach for studying the 2017 community college levy failure could involve interviewing community members, as well as college leaders, college employees, current students, graduates of the college, and local industry leaders. Additionally, documents, reports, and observations could be used for gathering data about the levy failure. A case study approach may provide a deeper understanding of the levy failure as perceived my multiple stakeholders.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

Through the doctoral study process, I have grown as a scholar, practitioner, and project developer. When I reflect back on the development of my doctoral study

prospectus, I realize how far I have come, especially in terms of my writing skills and my comprehension of what it means to write in a scholarly voice. While completing my doctoral study has been challenging and stressful at times, the growth that I have realized as a scholar has made the process meaningful and impactful in my professional development.

In developing my white paper project, I learned through research how to provide concise information about my research study and research findings. While I felt that many aspects of my doctoral study were important, the key to writing an effective white paper is to consider your audience. Most likely, college leaders would not be interested in detailed information about the coding results of my interview transcripts, or my study's data storage. I learned to provide enough information to highlight the background and procedures of the study, and then summarize the findings of the study in a way that would be meaningful to the audience. Additionally, I learned how to write my recommendations in concise, yet explanatory, language.

Reflective Analysis of Personal Learning

Prior to the start of my doctoral study, I thought that I was an effective writer. However, through the process of writing my prospectus and proposal, I quickly realized that my researching and writing skills were not at the scholarly level. The processes of researching, analyzing, synthesizing, writing, editing, and revising have enhanced my skills and have provided me with the confidence to conduct future research and publish.

Growth as a scholar. In the early days of my doctoral study, I struggled in finding relevant research to support my writing. By conducting the exhaustive research

that is required to complete a doctoral study, and with the support of Walden University's library and writing center, I have become proficient and efficient in conducting literature reviews. My proficiency in synthesizing literature has also improved significantly. Perhaps the most significant testimony to my growth as a scholar has been the transfer of my growth to my ability to support and teach my students. As co-director of the college's honors program, I help students in their development and completion of their senior capstone projects. As a result of my doctoral journey, my ability to help students through their capstone process has greatly improved. Specifically, my improvements have been realized in helping students develop a narrow topic for research, in providing timely feedback and suggestions, in providing help and instruction in conducting a literature review, and in assisting them through the IRB approval process.

Growth as a practitioner. Since my doctoral study is at the institutional level, as opposed to the classroom setting, my doctoral project study journey has contributed to a significant increase in my involvement in the development of campus initiatives and my advocacy for the underserved student. The experience that I have gained through my doctoral study has given me the confidence to engage in discussions during various institutional meetings, where in years past I did not speak out. My increased involvement across the college campus and the demonstration of my passion for positive change in higher education has contributed to my recent promotion to department chair.

Growth as a project developer. The development of my delivered project expanded my understanding about developing projects utilizing research, and how to deliver a project that provided concise direction, complete with a plan for evaluation. The

experience that I have gained through my research and project development has provided me with the necessary skills to develop more projects in the future, and confidently present project proposals. In fact, I am currently working on a proposal to present to the college's academic leaders for a new program of study based on local industry demands.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

The purpose of this study was to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition. The purpose of this project was to provide recommendations to the community college leaders for the creation of initiatives to strengthen community support of the college and to plan for a more successful future levy campaign based on the feedback from the community served. The importance of this study is that the project provides a much-needed channel of communication between the community and the college. Prior to this study, research had not been conducted about the college's levy failure. Now that this study has been completed, college leaders can create initiatives based on unbiased feedback, as opposed to hearsay and assumptions.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

Implications, applications, and directions for future research are presented in the following subsections. My conclusions end the section.

Implications

The implications for positive social change as a result of this study may include improving the community college's relationship with its community served, through initiatives created to strengthen the positive perceptions of the college and decrease the

negative perceptions of the college. In terms of a more successful tax replacement levy, the additional funds secured by a future successful replacement levy may have positive social change implications for multiple institutional stakeholders at the local level including; students, student dependents, faculty, board of trustee members, college administration, community businesses, employers of future graduates, and the study site in terms of its institutional viability. The additional funding that a successful replacement levy would contribute may allow for maintaining operations at the study site, basic investments such as improvements in technology and the physical campus, and the funding of faculty and staff vacancies. The improved financial support of the institution may translate into improved student outcomes, including degree completion and improved employment opportunities

Applications

The research findings of this study and the recommendations of the white paper can be used to create initiatives at the community college for improving local community support and for planning for a more successful future levy campaign. Community colleges across the country may also find this study to be applicable to addressing their own institutional challenges. Additionally, the community college under study, as well as other community colleges, could conduct use this study to develop further research studies for further investigation into the challenges of passing tax referenda.

Future Research

While this study contributes to the existing literature on community perceptions of a community college following a tax levy failure, there is a great need for additional

research on community college levies. During my research for the literature reviews, I found little current research on community college tax levies. The existing body of knowledge is focused on K-12 tax referenda, and while there are parallels between the two entities, public primary and secondary schools have different challenges than community colleges.

In addition to the need for future research on community college levies, there were other areas that I identified while conducting my literature reviews that identified a gap in the literature. While there is significant research available on town and gown relationships specific to four-year universities and colleges, there was little current literature pertaining to community colleges and their community relationships. This research would prove beneficial because community colleges do not typically have the same missions as four-year institutions. Communities may have different expectations of the local community college, as opposed to a four-year institution.

Another area of research that would have been helpful in my literature review and in making recommendations to the college leaders, would have been current literature on community programs and services that a community college could provide. Current literature that discussed programs and services that other community colleges have implemented would have been useful, especially if statistics regarding successes and failures were included. While current research discusses the importance of providing community programs and services, there is little information available to college leaders to direct them in the planning and implementation of these services.

A final recommendation for future research would be on the use of external consultant firms in guiding decision making in higher education. When an institution pays for an external consultation, a reasonable expectation would be that the information and data that is provided in the consultant's report is accurate and valid. Research about the accuracy and validity of feasibility studies would be useful in the determination of using such reports as a tool for institutional decision making. Additionally, future research on the accuracy and validity of external consultant feasibility studies could assist college leaders in the decision of whether to spend valuable funding on such research.

Conclusion

The study site, a rural community college in Appalachia, placed a replacement property tax levy on the ballot in November 2017 that would have provided much needed additional funding to the financially struggling institution. The problem of study is that the levy failed. College administrators have determined that the levy needs to be placed on the ballot again, and it needs to pass, yet administrators did not have a clear understanding as to what went wrong in 2017. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition.

Utilizing Lewin's force field analysis for the examination of possible positive and negative forces that possibly contributed to the way community members voted on the levy derived through personal interviews of voting age community members, I chose to conduct research that consisted of a personal interview with 12 community members. The information that was collected consisted of the participants' perceptions about the way

community members voted on the levy, not the participants' personal voting behavior. Based on the research findings, community members are tired of paying additional property taxes that levies generate, especially for levies that do not provide a clear and direct benefit to the taxpayer. Community members either did not know about the levy, or if they did, they did not understand the levy. Community members knew too little about the community college and its offerings and felt that the study site maintained a "quiet" presence in the community. Multiple community members discussed the benefits of having a more active community college in the local community. Those benefits included close-to-home options for their children and non-traditional students, economic benefits from better education opportunities close to home, and opportunities for economic growth of the community. Although those perceived benefits were acknowledged, the benefits were overshadowed by the community members' limited knowledge of the community college, and the services that it provides. The limited knowledge that the community possessed about the study site resulted in a lack of priority in comparison to competing levies. Community members felt that the timing of the levy was wrong with multiple competing levies on the ballot, especially in one county where another controversial levy garnered a lot of attention. Community members felt that placing the levy on the May Primary, as opposed to the November Election Day, or holding a special election may have proven to be more successful. While community members do not feel that putting the replacement tax levy on the ballot again in the near future would have a different outcome, they did state that with actual improvements made by the study site in programming, community services, and a significant increase in information

dissemination, a replacement tax levy campaign in a few years, could prove more successful.

The interview findings contributed to a white paper that summarized the interview-specific information and participant suggestions that should be viewed as valuable, as it has provided a voice to the community that the college serves. While participants voiced issues with the community college, many of them also demonstrated a passion for education and a desire to see the community college grow and be more successful. The participants provided a number of recommendations that should be considered, not only for improving the chances for a more successful future replacement levy campaign, but more importantly, for improving the community college's relations with the community it serves.

References

- Adams, K. R. (2014). The exploration of community boundary spanners in university-community partnerships. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 18(3), 113-118. Retrieved from ERIC (EJ1043307).
- Alvord, D., & Rauscher, E. (2019). Minority support: School district demographics and support for funding election measures. *Urban Affairs Review*, 1-32. doi:10.1177/1078087419877461
- Amaratunga, D., Baldry, D., Sarshar, M., & Newton, R. (2002). Quantitative and qualitative research in the built environment: Application of "mixed" research approach. *Work Study*, *51*(1), 17-31. doi:10.1108/00438020210415488
- American Association of Community Colleges & Association of Community College
 Trustees. (2018). Aligning for student success: How community colleges work
 with K-12 to improve college and career outcomes. *American Association of Community Colleges*. Retrieved from ERIC (591961).
- Anderson-Butcher, D., Davis, J., Henderson, T., Kimiecik, C., Newman, T., & Moore, S. (2018). Lessons learned from the life sports initiative: Facilitators and barriers to successful community partnerships. *Engaged Scholars*, 6. Retrieved from http://kb.osu.edu
- Augenblick, N., & Nicholson, S. (2016). Ballot position, choice fatigue, and voter behavior. *Review of Economic Studies*, 83, 460-480. doi:10.1177/1078087417752474

- Babbie, E. (2017). *The Basics of Social Research* (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Baime, D., & Baum, S. (2016). Community colleges: Multiple missions, diverse student bodies, and a range of policy solutions. *Urban Institute*. Retrieved from ERIC (ED570475).
- Banta, T. W., & Palomba, C. A. (2015). Assessment essentials: Planning, implementing, and improving assessment in higher education (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA:

 Jossey-Bass.
- Barrera, D. (2015). Examining our interdependence: Community partners' motivations to participate in academic outreach. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 19(4), 85-114. Retrieved from http://openjournals.libs.uga.edu
- Bass, D. (2017). Revving economic engines at community colleges. *Philanthropy*.

 Retrieved from http://www.philanthropyroundtable.org
- Benedictis-Kessner, J. (2017). Off-cycle and out of office: Election timing and the incumbency advantage. *The Journal of Politics*, 80(1), 119-132. doi:10.1086/694396
- Bennett, D. A. (2014). Rural colleges bring message to D.C. *Community College Week,* 26(15), 5. Retrieved from http://www.ccweek.com
- Bjursell, C., & Engstrom, A. (2019). A Lewinian approach to managing barriers to university-industry collaboration. *Higher Education Policy*, *32*, 129-148.

 Retrieved from http://www.palgrave.com/journals

- Blanco-Portela, N., Benayas, J., Pertierra, L. R., & Lozano, R. (2017). Towards the integration of sustainability in higher education institutions: A review of drivers of and barriers to organizational change and their comparison against those found of companies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *166*, 563-578. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.07.252
- Bolat, E., & O'Sullivan, H. (2017). Radicalising the marketing of higher education:

 Learning from student-generated social media data. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 33(9-10), 742-763. doi:10.1080/0267257X.2017.1328458
- Booth, A., Carroll, C., Ilott, I., Low, L. L., & Cooper, K. (2013). Desperately seeking dissonance: Identifying the disconfirming case in qualitative evidence synthesis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23(1), 126-141. doi:10.1177/1049732312466295
- Bourke, R., & Loveridge, J. (2017). Editorial: Educational research and why it's important. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Research*, *52*, 207-210. doi:10.1007/s40841-017-0093-0
- Bowers, A. J. (2015). Voter's role in deciding school facilities issues. *UCEA Review*, 56(1), 20-21. Retrieved from http://www.ucea.org
- Bowers, A. J., & Chen, J. (2015). Ask and ye shall receive? Automated text mining of Michigan capital facility finance bond election proposals to identify which topics are associated with bond passage and voter turnout. *Journal of Education Finance*, 41(2), 164-196. Retrieved from Project MUSE.

- Braidwood, T. (2016). You want to spend my money how? Framing effects on tax increases via ballot propositions. *State Politics & Policy Quarterly, 19*(1), 29-52. doi:10.1177/1532440018798813
- Brech, F. M., Messer, U., Vander Schee, B. A., Rauschnabel, P. A., & Ivens, B. S. (2017). Engaging fans and the community in social media: Interaction with institutions of higher education on Facebook. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, *27*(1), 112-130. doi:10.1080/08841241.2016.1219803
- Buckwalter, V., & Togila, J. (2019). Accelerating opportunity in rural regions: Designing pathway programs for adults and other non-traditional learners. *Jobs for the Future*, 1-19. Retrieved from ERIC (ED594024).
- Cao, J. T., Foster, J., Yaoyuneyong, G., & Krey, N. (2019). Hedonic and utilitarian value: the role of shared responsibility in higher education services. *Journal for Marketing for Higher Education*, *29*(1), 134-152. doi:10.1080/08841241.2019.1605439
- Clayton, A. B. (2019). Helping students navigate the college choice process: the experiences and practices of college advising professionals in public high schools. *The Review of Higher Education*, 42(4), 1401-1429. doi:10.1353/rhe.2019.0070
- Cohen, A. M., Brawer, F. B., & Kisker, C. B. (2014). *The American community college* (6th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Cohen, M. B., & Hyde, C. A. (2016). Empowering workers and clients for organizational change. *Journal of Progressive Human Services*, *27*(1), 65-67. doi:10.1080/10428232.2016.1108166

- College Simply. (n.d.). *College search*. Retrieved January 21, 2019, from http://collegesimply.com
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MedSurg Nursing*, *25*(6), 435-436. Retrieved from EBSCOhost (120221607).
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(1), 89-92. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Corporate Finance Institute. (2020). *What is a white paper*? Retrieved from http://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/knowledge/other/white-paper/
- Dann, C. (2017, September 17). Americans split on whether 4-year college degree is worth the cost. Retrieved from http://www.nbcnews.com
- DePrince, A. P., & DiEnno, C. M. (2019). Tackling grand challenges: Community engagement and collective impact in public problem solving. *Metropolitan Universities*, 30(2). doi:10.18060/22813
- Dholakia, R. R. (2017). Internal stakeholders' claim on branding a state university. *Services Marketing Quarterly, 38*(4), 226-238. doi:10.1080/15332969.2017.1363580
- Dougherty, K. J., Jones, S. M., Lahr, H., Natow, R. S., Pheatt, L., & Reddy, V. (2016).

 Performance funding for higher education. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins

 University Press.

- Duncheon, J. C., & DeMatthews, D. E. (2019). Early college high school principals:

 Preparing historically underrepresented students for college success. *NASSP Bulletin*, *102*(4), 269-290. doi:10.1177/0192636518812703
- Education USA. (n.d.). The first step to studying in the United States is researching your options to find a college or university that best fits your needs. Retrieved from http://educationUSA.state.gov
- Erdogmus, I., & Ergun, S. (2016). Understanding university brand loyalty: the mediating role of attitudes towards the department and university. *Procedia: Social and Behavioral Sciences, 229*, 141-150. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Finlay, L. (2002). Outing the researcher: the provenance, process, and practice of reflexivity. *Qualitative Health Research*, *12*(4), 531-545. doi: 10.1177/104973202129120052
- Finley, A. (2016). Well-being: An essential outcome for higher education. *Change*, 48(2), 14-19. doi:10.1080/00091383.2016.1163163
- Frantz, J. T. (2014). The bricks and mortar superintendency: How to survive a building project. *Education*, *134*(3), 384-395. Retrieved from Expanded Academic ASAP.
- Fujita, M., Harrigan, P., & Soutar, G. (2017). A netnography of a university's social media brand community: Exploring collaborative co-creation tactics. *Journal of Global Scholars of Marketing Science*, *27*(2), 148-164. doi:10.1080/21639159.2017.1283798
- Gavazzi, S. M. (2015). Engaged institutions, responsiveness, and town-gown relationships: Why deep culture change must emphasize the gathering of

- community feedback. *Planning for Higher Education, 43*(4), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.scup.org/phe
- Gavazzi, S. M. (2018). Campus and community leadership in the spotlight: How university presidents and city managers view town/gown relationships. *Journal of Community Engagement and Scholarship, 11*(1), 8-19. Retrieved from Education Source (132570144).
- Gerber, A. S., Huber, G. A., Biggers, D. R., & Hendry, D. J. (2016). A field experiment shows that subtle linguistic cues might not affect voter behavior. *PNAS*, *113*(26), 7112-7117. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513727113
- Glasper, R., & Kisker, C. (2016, October 24). *To survive and thrive, leaders must broaden and deepen connections*. Retrieved from http://ccweek.com
- Gong, H., & Rogers, C. (2014). Does voter turnout influence school bond elections? Southern Economic Journal, 81(1), 247-262. doi:10.4284/0038-4038-2013.061
- Goolsbee, A., & Minow, N. (2016). A new Morrill Act. *Democracy: A Journal of Ideas* (39), 9-11. Retrieved from Political Science Complete.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Higher Learning Commission. (2018). *Statement of accreditation status*. Retrieved from http://www.hlcommission.org
- Hodge, M., & Welch, J. (2016). An implementation perspective: Relevant lessons from no child left behind (NCLB) for the implementation of the every student succeeds

- act (ESSA). *Journal of Ethical Education Leadership*, *3*(9), 1-17. Retrieved from http://www.cojeel.org
- Holland, B., & Malone, M. (2019). Institutional engagement: Intentional, innovative, and rigorous. *International Journal of Community Research and Engagement*, 12(2), 1-6. doi:10.5130/ijcre.v12i2.6984
- Holt, C. R. (2017). School bond success: A strategy for building America's schools (4th ed.). Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Hoolachan, J. (2015). Ethnography and homelessness research. *International Journal of Housing Policy*, 16(1), 31-49. doi:10.1080/14616718.2015.1076625
- Hoskins, J. D., & Brown, B. A. (2017). Hold firm or adapt? An empirical examination of the institutional appeal implications of maintaining the liberal arts college identity. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 27(2), 188-212. doi:10.1080/08841241.2017.1386258
- Howard-Payne, L. (2016). Glaser or Strauss? Considerations for selecting a grounded theory study. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 46(1), 50-62. doi:10.1177/0081246315593071
- Hunt, C. (2015). A review of the empirical literature on no child left behind from 2001 to 2010. *Planning and Changing*, 46(1/2), 212-254. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net/publication/293816670
- Iowa Department of Education. (2016, January). *Adult education and literacy: Program*year 2015 annual report. Retrieved from Iowa Department of Education website:

 http://www.educateiowa.gov

- Jacoby, T. (2019). Community college career education: Scaling a new approach. *Lumina Foundation*. Retrieved from http://www.luminafoundation.org
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87-88. doi:10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Johnson, P. A. (2015). Voter's role in deciding school levies. *UCEA Review*, *56*(1), 21-22. Retrieved from http://www.ucea.org
- Joliet Junior College. (n.d.). *First community college*. Retrieved from http://www.jjc.edu/about-jjc/history
- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodological mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1), 37-52. doi:10.1177/1609406918788193
- Katsinas, S. G., D'Amico, M. M., Friedel, J. N., & Adair, J. L. (2016). *After the great recession: Higher education's new norm*. Retrieved from http://uaedpolicy.ua.edu
- Katsinas, S. G., Malley, M. S., & Warner, J. L. (2016, February). *On opportunity's fault line: the precarious nature of rural community college finance*. Retrieved from http://uaedpolicy.ua.edu
- King, B. M., Gordon, S. C., Barry, C. D., Goodman, R., Jannone, L. T., Foley, M. F., & Hendershot, C. (2017). Town and Gown: Building successful university-community partnerships. *NASN School Nurse, January* 14-20. doi:10.1177/1942602X16681819

- Klein, M. W. (2015). Settling a U.S. senatorial debate: Understanding declines in state higher education funding. *Journal of Education Finance*, 41(1), 1-29. Retrieved from Project Muse.
- Koenig-Lewis, N. (2016). The effects of passage of time on alumni recall of 'student experience'. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 70(1), 59-80. doi:10.1111/hequ.12063
- Kogan, V., Lavertu, S., & Peskowitz, Z. (2016). Performance federalism and local democracy: Theory and evidence from school tax referenda. *American Journal of Political Science*, 60(2), 418-435. doi:10.1111/ajps.12184
- Kogan, V., Lavertu, S., & Peskowitz, Z. (2018). Election timing, electorate composition, and policy outcomes: Evidence from school districts. *American Journal of Political Science*, 62(3), 637-651. doi:10.1111/ajps.12359
- Kolowich, L. (2018, March 14). What is a white paper? [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://blog.hubspot.com/marketing/what-is-a-whitepaper-examples-for-business
- Kovalenko, A. (2019). Student preferences for slogans of higher-education institutions.

 *Corporate Communications: An International Journal, 24(4), 653-669.

 doi:10.1108/CCIJ-11-2018-0119
- Kreye, M. K., Adams, D. C., & Kline, J. D. (2019). Gaining voter support for watershed protection. *Land Use Policy*, 89(1), 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2019.104227
- Leachman, M., Masterson, K., & Wallace, M. (2016, October 20). *After nearly a decade, school investments still way down in some states*. Retrieved from http://www.cbpp.org

- Lee, J. M., & Keys, S. W. (2013, September). Land-grant but unequal: State one-to-one match funding for 1890 land-grant universities. Retrieved from http://www.aplu.org
- Letizia, A. J. (2017). Using strategic planning to create the public good for higher education in volatile times. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 13(2), 144-164. Retrieved from ERIC (EJ1145610).
- Levin, H. M., & Garcia, E. (2018). Accelerating community college graduation rates: A benefit-cost analysis. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 89(1), 1-27. doi:10.1080/00221546.2017.1313087
- Li, A. Y. (2017). Covet thy neighbor or "reverse policy diffusion"? State adoption of performance funding 2.0. *Research in Higher Education*, *58*, 746-771. doi:10.1007/s111162-016-9444-9
- Li, D., Granizo, M. G., & Gardo, T. F. (2016). The value trade-off in higher education service: A qualitative intercultural approach to students' perceptions. *Intangible Capital*, 12(4), 855-880. doi:10.3926/ic.706
- Li, M., & Frieze, I. H. (2016). Developing civic engagement in university education:

 Predicting current and future engagement in community services. *Social*Psychology of Education, 19, 775-792. doi:10.1007/s11218-016-9356-8
- Lifto, D. E., & Nichol, B. (2019). School tax elections: Planning for success in the new normal (3rd ed.). Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

- Lindgren, E. (2018). Changing policy with words: How persuasive words in election pledges influence voter's beliefs about policies. *Mass Communication and Society*, 21(4), 425-449. doi:10.1080/15205436.2017.1406522
- Mannon, S. E. (2018). Misery loves company: Poverty, mobility, and higher education in the post-welfare state. *Sociological Perspectives*, *61*(2), 276-294. doi:10.1177/0731121418756043
- Martin, C. L., & Martin, M. H. (2018). Marketing content that resonates: An exploratory investigation of college students' favorite marketing content. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 6(1), 19-29. doi:10.15640/jmm.v6n1a2
- Martin, I. W., Lopez, J. L., & Olsen, L. (2019). Policy design and the politics of city revenue: Evidence from California municipal ballot measures. *Urban Affairs Review*, *55*(5), 1312-1338. doi:10.1177/1078087417752474
- Matsusaka, J. G. (2016). Ballot order effects in direct democracy elections. *Public Choice*, *167*, 257-276. doi:10.1007/s11127-016-0340-9
- Mauceri, S. (2014). Mixed strategies for improving data quality: the contribution of qualitative procedures to survey research. *Quality and Quantity, 48*(5), 2773-2790. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9923-4
- McAlvage, K., & Rice, M. (2018). White paper regarding accessibility in K-12 and higher education. *Access and Accessibility in Online Learning: Issues in higher education and K-12 contexts*. Retrieved from ERIC (ED593920).

- McPherson, G., & Thorne, S. (2006). Exploiting exceptions to enhance interpretive qualitative health research: Insights from a study of cancer communication.

 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 5(2), 1-10.

 doi:10.1177/160940690600500210
- Medina, M. (2017, August 17). How you can use white papers to increase leads and engagement. *Forbes*. Retrieved from http://forbes.com/sites/forbesagencycouncil/2017/08/17/how-you-can-use-white-papers-to-increase-and-engagement
- Mehra, B. (2002). Bias in qualitative research: Voices from an online classroom. *The Qualitative Report*, 7(1), 1-19. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol7/iss1/2
- Melguizo, T., Witham, K., Fong, K., & Chi, E. (2017). Understanding the relationship between equity and efficiency: Towards a concept of funding adequacy. *Journal of Education Finance*, 43(2), 195-216. Retrieved from Project MUSE.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education* (1st ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mitchell, M., Palacios, V., & Leachman, M. (2015). States are still funding higher education below pre-recession levels. *Journal of Collective Bargaining in the Academy*, *0*(10). Retrieved from http://thekeep.eiu.edu/jcba/vol0/iss10/71

- Morris, C. (2017). Community colleges working around state budget cuts. *Diverse:***Issues in Higher Education. Retrieved from http://diverseeducation.com/article/96304/
- Mtawa, N. N., Fongwa, S. N., & Wangenge-Ouma, G. (2016). The scholarship of university-community engagement: Interrogating Boyer's model. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 49, 126-133. doi: 10.1016/j.ijedudev.2016.01.007
- Mullin, C. M., Baime, D. S., & Honeyman, D. S. (2015). *Community college finance: A guide for institutional leaders*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Murphy, D., & McGrath, D. (2018). A success/failure paradox: Reflection on a university-community engagement in Australia. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 40(4), 321-341. doi:10.1080/1360080X.2018.1482102
- Nagele, C., Neuenschwander, M. P., & Rodcharoen, P. (2018). Higher education in Switzerland: Predictors of becoming engaged in higher vocational or academic education: The role of workplace factors. *International Journal for Research in Vocational Education and Training*, 5(4), 264-284. doi:10.13152/IJRVET.5.4.2
- NASBO. (2018, November). *Summary: NASBO State Expenditure Report*. Retrieved from http://nasbo.org
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *College navigator*. Retrieved from http://inces.ed.gov

- Nevzat, R., Amca, Y., Tanova, C., & Amca, H. (2016). Role of social media community in strengthening trust and loyalty for a university. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 65, 550-559. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.018
- New York State Library. (2017). *Outcomes-based evaluation*. Retrieved from http://nysl.nysed.gov/libder/obe
- Novakovic, Y. (2019). Researching longstanding graduates: Towards an enriched concept of the value of higher education. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 49(6), 757-770. doi:10.1080/0305764X.2019.1607822
- Ofek, Y. (2017). Evaluating social exclusion interventions in university-community partnerships. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 60, 46-55. doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.09.004
- Ohio Higher Ed. (2017, November 17). Levy funding diversification a win-win for colleges & community. Retrieved from http://www.ohiohighered.org/connected/levy_funding_diversification_win_win_colleges_community
- Ohio School Boards Association. (2018). *Understanding school levies*. Retrieved from http://www.ohioschoolboards.org
- Oliver, J. E. (2012). *Local elections and the politics of small-scale democracy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Orngreen, R., Gnaur, D., & Henningsen, B. (2019). Meeting online to reduce carbon emissions and to emphasize values in life and at work. In *The European Conference on e-Learning*. doi:10.34190/EEL.19.055 Page, B., Surratt, J., Bond, D., Jones, M., Meyer, J., Webster, A., & Wright, B. (2019). Communication and

- data sharing between K-12 and community colleges. *The Journal of the Virginia Community Colleges, 22*(1), 1-13. Retrieved from http://commons.vccs.edu/inquiry/vol22/iss1/7
- Page, B., Surratt, J., Bond, D., Jones, M., Meyer, J., Webster, A., & Wright, B. (2019).

 Communication and data sharing between K-12 and community colleges. *The Journal of the Virginia Community Colleges*, 22(1), 1-13. Retrieved from http://commons.vccs.edu/inquiry/vol22/iss1/7
- Palmadessa, A. L. (2017). America's college promise: Situating President Obama's initiative in the history of federal higher education aid and access policy.

 *Community College Review, 45(1), 52-70. doi:10.1177/0091552116673710
- Palombi, L. C., LaRue, A., & Fierke, K. K. (2018). Facilitating community partnerships to reduce opioid overdose: An engaged department initiative. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2018.07.002
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Phelan, D. J. (2014). The clear and present funding crisis in community colleges. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, (168). doi:10.1002/cc.20116
- Phillips, S. W. (2013). Using volunteers in policing: A force field analysis of American supervisors. *The Police Journal*, *86*, 289-306. doi:10.1350/pojo.2013.86.4.630
- Pizzolato, J. E., & Olson, A. B. (2016). Poverty and knowing: Exploring epistemological development in welfare-to-work community college students. *The Review of Higher Education*, 39(4), 571-596. doi:10.1353/rhe.2016.0025

- Pogodzinski, B., Lenhoff, S. W., & Addonizio, M. (2018). The relationship between open enrollment and school bond voting. *Education Administration Quarterly, Fall*, 1-25. doi:10.1177/0013161X18809343
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). Resource manual for nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice (10th ed.). Philadelphia, PA:

 Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Polkinghorne, M., Roushan, G., & Taylor, J. (2017). Considering the marketing of higher education: the role of student learning gain as a potential indicator of teaching quality. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, *27*(2), 213-232. doi:10.1080/08841241.2017.1380741
- Public Agenda. (2017). Success is what counts: A community college guide to community engagement & strategic partnerships. *Public Agenda*, 1-31. Retrieved from ERIC (ED594798).
- Pucciarelli, F., & Kaplan, A. (2016). Competition and strategy in higher education:

 Managing complexity and uncertainty. *Business Horizons*, *59*, 311-320. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Purcell, J. W. (2014). The engaged community college: Supporting the institutionalization of engagement through collaborative action inquiry. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement, 18*(3), 105. Retrieved from ERIC (EJ1043305).
- Purdue University. (n.d.). *The purpose of a white paper*. Retrieved from http://owl.purdue.edu

- Rausch, J. D. (2016). Who votes for taxes? An examination of voter support for local property taxes. *Politics, Bureaucracy, and Justice, 5*(2). Retrieved from http://wtamu.edu/pbj
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual,*theoretical, and methodological (1st ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications,
 Inc.
- Reese, L. A., & Zalewski, M. (2018). City assessments and local policy preferences: the relative roles of demographics, ideology, and civic culture. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 40(8), 1066-1092. doi:10.1080/07352166.2018.1451255
- Romano, R. M., & Palmer, J. C. (2016). Financing Community Colleges: Where We Are, Where We're Going. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Rominiak, T. (2018). *Whitepaper: Listen, learn, and set expectations*. Retrieved from http://www.K12insight.com
- Rosecrance, P. H., Graham, D., Manring, S., Cook, K. D., Hardin, E. E., & Gibbons, M. M. (2019). Rural Appalachian high school students' college-going and STEMM perceptions. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 67, 327-342. doi:10.1002/cdq.12202
- Rosenbaum, D., More, E., & Steane, P. (2018). Planned organisational change management: Forward to the past? An exploratory literature review. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(2), 286-303. doi:10.1108/JOCM-06-2015-0089

- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: the art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Rural Community College Alliance. (n.d.). *Rural community colleges as defined in the*2013 Farm Bill. Retrieved from http://ruralccalliance.org
- Saldana, J. (2013). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Ltd.
- Salovey, P. (2018). How to sway higher ed's skeptics. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from ProQuest (2019148536).
- Sampson, P. M., Roberts, K. L., Glenn, J., Radford, K., & Gautam, C. (2016). School bond passage: Relationship to demographics and student achievement. *TCPEA Conference*, *1*. Retrieved from http://www.tasanet.org
- San Diego Mesa College. (2017). *Definition of Outcomes Assessment*. Retrieved from http://sdmesa.edu/outcomes-assessment-guide/overview/what-is-outcomes-assessment/definition-of-outcomes-assessment.shtml
- Sandmann, L. R., Jordan, J. W., Mull, C. D., & Valentine, T. (2014). Measuring boundary-spanning behaviors in community engagement. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, 18(3), 83-96. Retrieved from http://openjournals.libs.uga.edu

- Schafft, K. A. (2016). Rural education as rural development: Understanding the rural school-community well-being linkage in a 21st century policy context. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *91*(2), 137-154. doi:10.1080/0161956X.2016.1151734
- Schudde, L., & Goldrick-Rab, S. (2015). On second chances and stratification: How sociologists think about community colleges. *Community College Review*, *43*(1), 27-45. doi:10.1177/0091552114553296
- Schwandt, T. A. (2014). *The Sage dictionary of qualitative inquiry* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Shelton, A. J. (2019). Implementing community engagement projects in classrooms.

 **Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice, 16(1), 61-67.

 doi:10.33423/jhetp.v16i1.1937
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, *22*, 63-75. doi:10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Smith, D. A. (2016). Accountability for public funding: Integrated strategic planning and resource allocation at a rural community college. *Journal of School Public Relations*, *37*(1), 80-112. Retrieved from EBSCO.
- Soto, H. W. (2019). Implementation of a civic engagement community change model by a community college through the integration of technology and social media as a strategic element. *HETS Online Journal*, *9*, 7-24. Retrieved from http://searchebscohost-com.

- State of Connecticut Office of the State Comptroller. (n.d.). *Appropriations*. Retrieved from http://www.osc.ct.gov
- Stephenson, A. L., Heckert, A., & Yerger, D. B. (2016). College choice and the university brand: Exploring the consumer decision framework. *Higher Education*, 71, 489-503. doi:10.1007/s10734-015-9919-1
- Stevens, M. L. (2018). Higher education politics after the Cold War. *Change*, *50*(3-4), 13-17. doi:10.1080/00091383.2018.1507232
- Stutzer, A., Baltensperger, M., & Meier, A. (2018). Overstrained citizens? the number of ballot propositions and the quality of the decision process in democracy.

 Retrieved from http://edoc.unibas.ch/65773/
- Sullivan, G. W., & Stergios, J. (2019). A risky proposal for at-risk private colleges: Ten reasons why the Board of Education must rethink its plan. *Public Policy Research*, 195. Retrieved from ERIC (ED598449).
- Sullivan, M., Price, D. V., Fox, L., & Person, A. (2018, April). How community colleges address basic needs and financial stability of low-income students to boost college completion: Lessons from the working students success network. *Mathematica Policy Research*. Retrieved from ERIC (ED587422).
- Sullivan, M., & Sobul, M. (2010, February). *Property taxation and school funding*.

 Retrieved from http://www.tax.ohio.gov
- Swanson, D. J., & Creed, A. S. (2014). Sharpening the focus of force field analysis.

 *Journal of Change Management, 14(1), 28-47.

 doi:10.1080/14697017.2013.788052

- Talarico, D. (2017). Retention marketing tips part 2: Keeping them engaged keeps them there. *Recruiting & Retaining Adult Learners*, 19(4), 3-3. doi:10.1002/nsr
- Tandberg, D. A., Bruecker, E. M., & Weeden, D. D. (2019, June). *Improving state*authorization: the state role in ensuring quality and consumer protection in

 higher education. Retrieved from State Higher Education Executive Officers

 Association website: http://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?
- Thompson, P. N., & Whitley, J. (2017). The effect of school district and municipal government financial health information on local tax election outcomes: Evidence from fiscal stress labels in Ohio. *Public Choice*, *170*, 265-288.

 doi:10.1007/s11127-016-0395-7
- Thornton, Z. M., & Friedel, J. N. (2015). Performance-based funding: State policy influences on small rural community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(3), 188-203. doi:10.1080/10668926.2015.1112321
- Tomlinson, M. (2018). Conceptions of the value of higher education in a measured market. *Higher Education*, 75, 711-727. doi:10.1007/s10734-017-0165-6
- Trullas, I., Simo, P., Fusalba, O. R., Fito, A., & Sallan, J. M. (2018). Student-perceived organizational support and perceived employability in the marketing of higher education. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 28(2), 266-281. doi:10.1080/08841241.2018.1488334
- Truman, H. S. (1947, December 15). Statement by the President making public a report of the Commission on Higher Education. Retrieved from http://trumanlibrary.org

- Tudor, S. L. (2017). Teachers' formation from the perspective of labour market demands.

 In *ECAI 2017 International Conference: Vol. 9*. doi:10.1109/ECAI.2017.8166487
- Uncles, M. D. (2018). Directions in higher education: A marketing perspective.

 *Australasian Marketing Journal, 26, 187-193. doi:10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.05.009
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2018). Food insecurity: Better information could help eligible college students access federal food assistance benefits (GAO-19-95). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

 Retrieved from http://www.gao.gov
- Webber, D. (2018). Higher ED, lower spending. *Education Next*, 18(3), 50-56. Retrieved from http://educationnext.org
- Weerts, D. J. (2015). The public-good variable: Can public engagement boost state support for higher education? *Change*, 47(3), 20-25. doi:10.1080/00091383.2015.1031617
- Weiss, P. L., Cobb, S., Zancanaro, M., Bauminger-Zviely, N., Eden, S., & Parsons, S. J. (2017). Challenges in developing new technologies for special needs education: A force-field analysis. *Journal of Alternative Medicine Research*, *9*(2), 115-119. Retrieved from https://eds-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=2&sid=6b1cf7a1-79f7-456d-b74a-1e3f3e719199%40sessionmgr104
- Williams, G. (2016). Higher education: Public good or private commodity. *London Review of Education*, *14*(1). doi:10.18546/LRE.14.1.12

Wojciechowski, E., Pearsall, T., Murphy, P., & French, E. (2016). A case review:

Integrating Lewin's theory with Lean's system approach for change. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 21(2). Retrieved from http://ojin.nursingworld.org

Ziskin, M. B., Rabourn, K. E., & Hossler, D. (2018). Performance-based funding of higher education: Analyses of policy discourse across four case studies. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies*, 16(2), 164-210. Retrieved from

http://www.jceps.com

Appendix A: The Project

White Paper: A Community's Perceptions of a Rural Community College After a

Replacement Levy Failure

Stephanie Saunders

Walden University

Abstract

In November 2017, a community college in rural Appalachia placed a replacement tax levy on the ballot in the institution's four-county district to generate additional funding for the financially struggling community college. For the levy to pass successfully, the levy had to pass in all four counties. The levy did not pass, and there was not a clear understanding by the study site's administration as to why it did not pass. To provide potential insight into why the study site's replacement levy failed in November 2017, the community members' perceptions that contributed to the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition were examined and the following research question guided the research: What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the replacement levy? 12 members of the community college's four-county service area participated in personal interviews. This white paper will provide a summary and analysis of the research that I conducted, evidence from both current literature and research, and recommendations that may contribute to a more successful future levy campaign.

White Paper: A Community's Perceptions of a Rural Community College After a

Replacement Levy Failure

Background

The study site, a rural community college, placed a replacement property tax levy on the ballot in November 2017 that would have provided much needed additional funding to the financially struggling institution. The problem of study is that the levy failed. College administrators have determined that the levy needs to be placed on the ballot again, and it needs to pass, yet administrators do not have a clear understanding as to what went wrong in 2017. The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition.

Review of Literature

The literature review that was conducted flushed out multiple themes that are relevant to the historical underpinnings of community colleges, as well as trends currently effecting the funding and support of community colleges. Community colleges from their infancy as land-grant colleges in the 19th century, through their rapid growth in the 20th century to the contemporary community college of today, have focused on the delivery of higher education through increased accessibility and affordability, while predominantly addressing the current vocational training needs of the American workforce (Cohen, et al., 2014). While the majority of community colleges were once funded by the communities that they served, only half of the states continue to allow funding from local tax appropriations (Mullin et al., 2015). Now the majority of

community colleges, like other public and private colleges and universities, are dependent on state tax dollar allocations and student tuition (Mitchell et al., 2015). With a dependence on state allocations, community colleges are now dealing with the reality of fluctuating revenue streams that are a direct result of competing funds at the state level (Webber, 2018) and funding trends such as performance-based funding (Ziskin et al., 2018).

Although community college tax referenda have existed as long as community colleges have, there is minimal recent research on community college levies. The largest and most current body of literature pertains to K-12 tax referenda, and although there are parallels between the two, the body of literature is lacking. Utilizing Lewin's force field analysis for the examination of possible positive and negative forces that possibly contributed to the way community members voted on the levy derived through personal interviews of voting age community members, this study contributes to a better understanding of the levy failure. The application of Lewin's change management model provides the framework for sharing valuable information for creating initiatives for a more successful future levy campaign and contributes to the sparse body of current literature specific to community college tax referenda.

Population and Sample Size

The minimum criteria for research participants consisted of a minimum age of 18 years old (for voting eligibility) and a verified physical address within one of the four counties that make up the study site's in-district service area and where the study site's tax referenda are voted upon. Additionally, respondents that knew me personally or

professionally, or were employed by the college, were excluded from the research study to minimize researcher bias. In planning for achieving theoretical saturation, I chose to interview a minimum of 12 participants because previous research by Guest et al. (2006) indicated that when studying a relatively homogeneous sample of interview participants, saturation is typically achieved by the twelfth interview. Interview participants were recruited for participation through flyers posted at the five local libraries in the four-county in-district region, through advertisements in a local newspaper that has a circulation in all four counties, and advertisements on Facebook. Of the 20 initial study participation respondents, I secured 12 participants that met the study participation criteria.

Data Collection and Analysis

The research consisted of a personal interview with each of the 12 participants. The interviews were conducted in the participant's home county, at the local public library of the participant's choosing, in a private conference room, to provide a local, private, neutral location for accurate and unbiased research, as well as providing a measure for safety. The interviews followed a semi-structured interview script with predetermined open-ended questions, with each interview lasting approximately one hour. The information that was collected consisted of the participants' perceptions about the way community members voted on the levy, not the participants' personal voting behavior. Recorded interviews were transcribed and coded for concepts that demonstrated significance to the study, followed by the identification of themes or patterns, through the connecting of concepts (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Summary of Findings

The purpose of this qualitative study was to examine the community members' perceptions about the way community members voted on the study site's replacement levy proposition, to better understand the levy failure. Based on the 12 personal interviews that I conducted, community members are tired of paying additional property taxes that levies generate, especially for levies that do not provide a clear and direct benefit to the taxpayer. Community members either did not know about the levy, or if they did, they did not understand the levy. Community members knew too little about the community college and its offerings and felt that the study site maintained a "quiet" presence in the community. Multiple community members discussed the benefits of having a more active community college in the local community. Those benefits included close-to-home options for their children and non-traditional students, economic benefits from better education opportunities close to home, and opportunities for economic growth of the community. Although those perceived benefits were acknowledged, the benefits were overshadowed by the community members' limited knowledge of the community college, and the services that it provides. The limited knowledge that the community possessed about the study site resulted in a lack of priority in comparison to competing levies. Community members felt that the timing of the levy was wrong with multiple competing levies on the ballot, especially in one county where another controversial levy garnered a lot of attention. Community members felt that placing the levy on the May Primary, as opposed to the November Election Day, or holding a special election may have proven to be more successful. While community members do not feel

that putting the replacement tax levy on the ballot again in the near future would have a different outcome, they did state that with actual improvements made by the study site in programming, community services, and a significant increase in information dissemination, a replacement tax levy campaign in a few years, could prove more successful.

Recommendations

The interviews that I conducted generated information and suggestions that should be viewed as valuable, as it has provided a voice to the community that the college serves. While participants voiced issues with the community college, many of them also demonstrated a passion for education and a desire to see the community college grow and be more successful. The participants provided a number of recommendations that should be considered, not only for improving the chances for a more successful future replacement levy campaign, but more importantly, for improving the community college's relations with the community it serves. I recommend that the following community member suggestions be considered when creating new initiatives and strategic plans:

- Publish local student success stories.
- Create summer programs for the local youth.
- Offer enrichment courses at the main campus and academic centers.
- Increase community services and outreach to senior citizen and community youth.
- Offer more relevant programs of study to reflective of community needs and interests.

- Improve and increase marketing of programs and services.
- Offer a free "Introduction to College" course at all campuses.
- Increase presence in local high schools.
- Increase college representation at community organization meetings and political meetings in all four counties.
- Increase information dissemination and transparency of future replacement tax levy proposals.

Implications

Improving the community college's relationship with its community served, through initiatives created to strengthen the positive perceptions of the college, and decrease the negative perceptions of the college, may contribute not only to a more successful future replacement levy campaign, but also improve the relationship with the community college and its community served. In terms of a more successful tax replacement levy, the additional funds secured by a future successful replacement levy may have positive social change implications for multiple institutional stakeholders at the local level including; students, student dependents, faculty, board of trustee members, college administration, community businesses, employers of future graduates, and the study site in terms of its institutional viability. The additional funding that a successful replacement levy would contribute may allow for maintaining operations at the study site, basic investments such as improvements in technology and the physical campus, and the funding of faculty and staff vacancies. The improved financial support of the institution may translate into improved student outcomes, including degree completion and

improved employment opportunities. Improved student outcomes may translate into positive changes in the local economy, a decrease in local governmental assistance for individuals and families, and a stronger community college better equipped to meet the needs of its community served (Levin & Garcia, 2018).

References

- Cohen, A. M., Brawer, F. B., & Kisker, C. B. (2014). *The American community college* (6th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Levin, H. M., & Garcia, E. (2018). Accelerating community college graduation rates: A benefit-cost analysis. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 89(1), 1-27. doi:10.1080/00221546.2017.1313087
- Mitchell, M., Palacios, V., & Leachman, M. (2015). States are still funding higher education below pre-recession levels. *Journal of Collective Bargaining in the Academy*, *0*(10). Retrieved from http://thekeep.eiu.edu/jcba/vol0/iss10/71.
- Mullin, C. M., Baime, D. S., & Honeyman, D. S. (2015). *Community college finance: A guide for institutional leaders*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: the art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Webber, D. (2018). Higher ED, lower spending. *Education Next*, 18(3), 50-56. Retrieved from http://educationnext.org
- Ziskin, M. B., Rabourn, K. E., & Hossler, D. (2018). Performance-based funding of higher education: Analyses of policy discourse across four case studies. *Journal* for Critical Education Policy Studies, 16(2), 164-210. Retrieved from http://www.jceps.com

Appendix B: Semi-Structured Interview Questions

Research Question:

What are the community members perceptions (positive and negative forces) about how community members voted on the replacement levy?

Interview questions related to research question:

- 1. There may be a variety of reasons that voters choose to support a tax levy.
 What do you believe were the reasons that community members chose to vote
 "YES" on the Rio Grande Community College replacement tax levy?
 - a. Were there possibly personal reasons for voting "YES"?
 - b. Were there possibly community benefits that resulted in "YES" votes?
- 2. Please explain why you believe these reasons may have had a positive influence on community members voting "YES" for the replacement levy.
- 3. What do you believe would strengthen these positive influences as perceived by community members?
 - a. Why do you believe _____ would strengthen these positive influences?

- 4. There may also be a variety of reasons that voters choose not to support a tax levy. What do you believe were the reasons that community members chose to vote "NO" on the Rio Grande Community College replacement tax levy?
 - a. Are there possibly personal reasons for community members voting "NO"?
 - b. Are there reasons that have nothing to do with RGCC that possibly made community members vote "NO"?
- 5. Please explain why you believe these reasons may have had a negative influence on community members resulting in a vote of "NO" for the replacement levy.
- 6. What do you believe could be done by RGCC to change these negative influences as perceived by community members?
 - a. How could RGCC doing _____ change the negative feelings that community members may have about RGCC?
- 7. Do you think that the timing of the levy vote (November 2017) effected the outcome?
 - a. Do you believe placing the replacement tax levy on the ballot during the May primary instead of November would have changed the outcome?

- i. Why or why not?
- b. Do you believe holding a special election would have changed the outcome?
 - i. Why or why not?
- 8. Should RGCC attempt another replacement tax levy in the future?
 - a. Why or why not?